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PART I

Item 1. Business.

General Electric Capital Corporation

General Electric Capital Corporation (GE Capital or GECC) was incorporated in 1943 in the State of New York under
the provisions of the New York Banking Law relating to investment companies, as successor to General Electric
Contracts Corporation, which was formed in 1932. Until November 1987, our name was General Electric Credit
Corporation. On July 2, 2001, we changed our state of incorporation to Delaware. As of December 31, 2011, all of our
outstanding common stock was owned by General Electric Capital Services, Inc. (GE Capital Services or GECS),
formerly General Electric Financial Services, Inc., the common stock of which was in turn wholly-owned by General
Electric Company (GE Company or GE). Financing and services offered by GE Capital are diversified, a significant
change from the original business of GE Capital, which was, financing distribution and sale of consumer and other GE
products. Currently, GE manufactures few of the products financed by GE Capital.

We operate in five segments described on page 5. These operations are subject to a variety of regulations in their
respective jurisdictions. Our operations are located in North America, South America, Europe, Australia and Asia.

Our principal executive offices are located at 901 Main Avenue, Norwalk, CT 06851-1168. At December 31, 2011,
our employment totaled approximately 52,000.

On February 22, 2012, our parent, GECS was merged with and into, GECC. The merger simplified GE’s financial
services’ corporate structure by consolidating financial services entities and assets within its organization and
simplifying Securities and Exchange Commission and regulatory reporting. Upon the merger, GECC became the
surviving corporation and assumed all of GECS’ rights and obligations and became wholly-owned directly by GE
Company. GECC’s continuing operations now includes the run-off insurance operations previously held and managed
in GECS. References to GECS, GECC and GE Capital in this Form 10-K Report relate to the entities as they existed
during 2011 and do not reflect the February 22, 2012 merger.

Our financial information, including filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), is available at
www.ge.com/secreports. Copies are also available, without charge, from GE Corporate Investor Communications,
3135 Easton Turnpike, Fairfield, CT, 06828-0001. Reports filed with the SEC may be viewed at www.sec.gov or
obtained at the SEC Public Reference Room in Washington, D.C. Information regarding the operation of the Public
Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. References to our website addressed in this
report are provided as a convenience and do not constitute, and should not be viewed as, an incorporation by reference
of the information contained on, or available through, the website. Therefore, such information should not be
considered part of this report.

(3)

Edgar Filing: GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORP - Form 10-K

5



Forward-Looking Statements

This document contains “forward-looking statements” – that is, statements related to future, not past, events. In this
context, forward-looking statements often address our expected future business and financial performance and
financial condition, and often contain words such as “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “see,” or “will.”
Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain. For us, particular
uncertainties that could cause our actual results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking
statements include: current economic and financial conditions, including volatility in interest and exchange rates,
commodity and equity prices and the value of financial assets; potential market disruptions or other impacts arising in
the United States or Europe from developments in the European sovereign debt situation; the impact of conditions in
the financial and credit markets on the availability and cost of our funding and on our ability to reduce our asset levels
as planned; the impact of conditions in the housing market and unemployment rates on the level of commercial and
consumer credit defaults; changes in Japanese consumer behavior that may affect our estimates of liability for excess
interest refund claims (Grey Zone); our ability to maintain our current credit rating and the impact on our funding
costs and competitive position if we do not do so; the level of demand and financial performance of the major
industries we serve, including, without limitation, air transportation, real estate and healthcare; the impact of
regulation and regulatory, investigative and legal proceedings and legal compliance risks, including the impact of
financial services regulation; strategic actions, including acquisitions, joint ventures and dispositions and our success
in completing announced transactions and integrating acquired businesses; the impact of potential information
technology or data security breaches; and numerous other matters of national, regional and global scale, including
those of a political, economic, business and competitive nature. These uncertainties may cause our actual future results
to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements. These uncertainties are described in
more detail in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K Report. We do not undertake to update our
forward-looking statements.

(4)
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Operating Segments

Segment revenue and profit information and additional financial data and commentary on recent financial results for
operating segments are provided in the Segment Operations section in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in
Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Operating businesses that are reported as segments include Commercial Lending and Leasing (CLL), Consumer, Real
Estate, Energy Financial Services and GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS). A summary description of each of our
operating segments follows.

On February 22, 2012, GECS merged with and into its wholly-owned subsidiary, GECC. GECC’s continuing
operations now includes the run-off insurance operations previously held and managed in GECS. References to
GECS, GECC and GE Capital in this Form 10-K Report relate to the entities as they existed during 2011 and do not
reflect the February 22, 2012 merger.

GE Capital businesses offer a broad range of financial services and products worldwide for businesses of all sizes.
Services include commercial loans and leases, fleet management, financial programs, home loans, credit cards,
personal loans and other financial services. GE Capital also develops strategic partnerships and joint ventures that
utilize GE’s industry-specific expertise in aviation, energy, infrastructure, healthcare and media to capitalize on
market-specific opportunities.

During 2011, GE Capital provided approximately $104 billion of new financings in the U.S. to various companies,
infrastructure projects and municipalities. Additionally, we extended approximately $87 billion of credit to
approximately 56 million U.S. consumers. GE Capital provided credit to approximately 19,600 new commercial
customers and 37,000 new small businesses in the U.S. during 2011 and ended the period with outstanding credit to
more than 284,000 commercial customers and 191,000 small businesses through retail programs in the U.S.

We have communicated our goal of reducing our ending net investment (ENI). To achieve this goal, we are more
aggressively focusing our businesses on selective financial services products where we have domain knowledge,
broad distribution, and the ability to earn a consistent return on capital, while managing our overall balance sheet size
and risk. We have a strategy of exiting those businesses where we are underperforming or that are deemed to be
non-strategic. We have completed a number of dispositions in our businesses in the past and will continue to evaluate
options going forward.

We also continue our longstanding practice of providing supplemental information for certain businesses within the
segments.

Commercial Lending and Leasing

CLL provides customers around the world with a broad range of financing solutions. We have particular mid-market
expertise, and primarily offer collateralized loans, leases and other financial services to customers, including
manufacturers, distributors and end-users for a variety of equipment and major capital assets. These assets include
industrial-related facilities and equipment; vehicles; corporate aircraft; and equipment used in many industries,
including the construction, manufacturing, transportation, media, communications, entertainment and healthcare
industries.

In December 2011, we announced that GE Capital Financial Inc., our industrial bank, is acquiring MetLife’s U.S. retail
deposit business, which is an established online bank with approximately $7.5 billion in U.S. retail deposits that will
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allow CLL to better serve its middle-market commercial customers. The transaction is targeted to close in mid-2012
pending regulatory approval.

In 2011, we completed the sale of our CLL marine container leasing business, which consists of our controlling
interests in the GE SeaCo joint venture along with other owned marine container assets, and our CLL trailer fleet
services business in Mexico.

During 2009, we acquired a 100% ownership interest in Interbanca S.p.A., an Italian corporate bank in exchange for
the Consumer businesses in Austria and Finland, our credit card and auto businesses in the U.K. and our credit card
business in Ireland.

In the first quarter of 2009, we deconsolidated Penske Truck Leasing Co., L.P. (PTL) following our sale of a partial
interest in a limited partnership in PTL.

(5)
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We operate in a highly competitive environment. Our competitors include commercial banks, investment banks,
leasing companies, financing companies associated with manufacturers, and independent finance companies.
Competition related to our lending and leasing operations is based on price, that is, interest rates and fees, as well as
deal structure and terms. More recently, there has been a disruption in the capital markets and in access to and
availability of capital as well as the exit of some competitors. Profitability is affected not only by broad economic
conditions that affect customer credit quality and the availability and cost of capital funding, but also by successful
management of credit risk, operating risk and market risks such as interest rate and currency exchange risks. Success
requires high quality risk management systems, customer and industry specific knowledge, diversification, service and
distribution channels, strong collateral and asset management knowledge, deal structuring expertise and the ability to
reduce costs through technology and productivity.

Consumer

Consumer, through consolidated entities and associated companies, is a leading provider of financial services to
consumers and retailers around the world. We offer a full range of financial products to suit customers’ needs. These
products include, on a global basis, private-label credit cards; personal loans; bank cards; auto loans and leases;
mortgages; debt consolidation; home equity loans; deposit and other savings products; and small and medium
enterprise lending.

In 2011, we entered into agreements to sell our Consumer Singapore business and our Consumer home lending
operations in Australia and New Zealand (Australian Home Lending) and classified them as discontinued
operations.  Both dispositions were completed during 2011.

In the first quarter of 2011, we sold a substantial portion of our Garanti Bank equity investment.  Following the sale,
we hold a 2.25% equity ownership interest, which is classified as an available-for-sale security.

In 2010, we entered into agreements to sell our U.S. recreational vehicle and marine equipment financing portfolio
(Consumer RV Marine) and Consumer Mexico and classified them as discontinued operations. Both dispositions were
completed during 2011. Also, in 2010, we committed to sell our Consumer business in Canada, which was completed
during 2011; and we purchased sales finance portfolios from Citi Retail Partner Cards, which provides consumer
financing programs and related services to small to mid-sized retailers and dealers.

In 2009, we completed the sale of our Consumer businesses in Austria and Finland, the credit card and auto businesses
in the U.K., and the credit card business in Ireland in exchange for a 100% ownership in Interbanca S.p.A. Also in
2009, we completed the sale of a portion of our Australian residential mortgage business.

In June 2009, we increased our ownership to a controlling interest in BAC Credomatic GECF Inc. (BAC) and, in
December 2010, completed the sale of BAC. BAC has been classified as a discontinued operation.

Our operations are subject to a variety of bank and consumer protection regulations. Further, a number of countries
have ceilings on rates chargeable to consumers in financial service transactions. We are subject to competition from
various types of financial institutions including commercial banks, leasing companies, consumer loan companies,
independent finance companies, finance companies associated with manufacturers, and insurance companies. Industry
participants compete on the basis of price, servicing capability, promotional marketing, risk management, and cross
selling. The markets in which we operate are also subject to the risks from fluctuations in retail sales, interest and
currency exchange rates, and the consumer’s capacity to repay debt.

Real Estate
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Real Estate offers a range of capital and investment solutions, including equity capital for acquisition or development,
as well as fixed and floating rate mortgages for new acquisitions or re-capitalizations of commercial real estate
worldwide. Our business finances, with both equity and loan structures, the acquisition, refinancing and renovation of
office buildings, apartment buildings, retail facilities, hotels, parking facilities and industrial properties. Our typical
real estate loans are intermediate term, senior, fixed or floating-rate, and are secured by existing income-producing
commercial properties. We invest in, and provide restructuring financing for, portfolios of commercial mortgage
loans, limited partnerships and tax-exempt bonds.

(6)
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We own and operate a global portfolio of real estate with the objective of maximizing property cash flows and asset
values. In the normal course of our business operations, we sell certain real estate equity investments when it is
economically advantageous for us to do so. However, as real estate values are affected by certain forces beyond our
control (e.g., market fundamentals and demographic conditions), it is difficult to predict with certainty the level of
future sales, sales prices, impairments or write-offs.

Our competitors include banks, financial institutions, real estate companies, real estate investment funds and other
financial companies. Competition in our equity investment business is primarily based on price, and competition in
our lending business is primarily based on interest rates and fees, as well as deal structure and terms. As we compete
globally, our success is sensitive to the economic and political environment of each country in which we do business.

Energy Financial Services

Energy Financial Services invests in long-lived, capital-intensive energy projects and companies by providing
structured equity, debt, leasing, partnership financing, project finance and broad-based commercial finance. We also
invest in early-to-later-stage companies that are pursuing new technologies and services in the energy industry. In
May 2010, we sold our general partnership interest in Regency Energy Partners L.P. (Regency), a midstream natural
gas services provider, and retained a limited partnership interest. This resulted in the deconsolidation of Regency.

We operate in a highly competitive environment. Our competitors include banks, financial institutions, energy
companies, and other finance and leasing companies. Competition is primarily based on price, that is, interest rates
and fees, as well as deal structure and terms. As we compete globally, our success is sensitive to the economic and
political environment of each country in which we do business.

GE Capital Aviation Services

GECAS engages in commercial aircraft leasing and finance, delivering fleet and financing services to companies
across the spectrum of the aviation industry. Our product offerings include leases and secured loans on commercial
passenger aircraft, freighters and regional jets; engine leasing and financing services; aircraft parts solutions; and
airport equity and debt financing. We also co-sponsor an infrastructure private equity fund, which invests in large
infrastructure projects including gateway airports.

We operate in a highly competitive environment. Our competitors include aircraft manufacturers, banks, financial
institutions, equity investors, and other finance and leasing companies. Competition is based on lease rate financing
terms, aircraft delivery dates, condition and availability, as well as available capital demand for financing.

GECC Corporate Items and Eliminations

GECC Corporate Items and Eliminations primarily include unallocated Treasury and Tax operations; Trinity, a group
of sponsored special purpose entities; the effects of eliminating transactions between GE Capital’s five operating
businesses; underabsorbed corporate overhead; and certain non-allocated amounts determined by the GECC
Chairman.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations primarily comprised BAC, GE Money Japan (our Japanese personal loan business, Lake, and
our Japanese mortgage and card businesses, excluding our investment in GE Nissen Credit Co., Ltd.), our U.S.
mortgage business (WMC), Consumer RV Marine, Consumer Mexico, Consumer Singapore and Australian Home
Lending.
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For further information about discontinued operations, see Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Geographic Data

Geographic data is reported in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.
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Additional financial data about our geographic operations is provided in the Geographic Operations section in Part II,
Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K
Report.

Regulations and Competition

Our activities are subject to a variety of U.S. federal and state regulations including, at the federal level, the Consumer
Credit Protection Act, the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and certain regulations issued by the Federal Trade
Commission. A majority of states have ceilings on rates chargeable to customers on retail loan transactions,
installment loans and revolving credit financing. Our insurance activities are regulated by various state insurance
commissions and non-U.S. regulatory authorities. We are a unitary savings and loan holding company by virtue of
owning a federal savings bank in the U.S.; as such, we are subject to holding company regulation and supervision
under the U.S. Home Owners’ Loan Act. Prior to July 21, 2011, this holding company supervision was conducted by
the Office of Thrift Supervision (OTS). On that date, responsibility for regulating and supervising savings and loan
holding companies transferred from the OTS to the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (FRS).
Accordingly, we are now subject to holding company supervision by the FRS. Our global operations are subject to
regulation in their respective jurisdictions. To date, compliance with such regulations has not had a material adverse
effect on our financial position or results of operations.

The businesses in which we engage are highly competitive. We are subject to competition from various types of
financial institutions, including banks, thrifts, investment banks, broker-dealers, credit unions, leasing companies,
consumer loan companies, independent finance companies, finance companies associated with manufacturers and
insurance and reinsurance companies.

Business and Economic Conditions

Our businesses are generally affected by general business and economic conditions in countries in which we conduct
business. When overall economic conditions deteriorate in those countries, there generally are adverse effects on our
operations, although those effects are dynamic and complex. For example, a downturn in employment or economic
growth in a particular national or regional economy will generally increase the pressure on customers, which generally
will result in deterioration of repayment patterns and a reduction in the value of collateral. However, in such a
downturn, demand for loans and other products and services we offer may actually increase. Interest rates, another
macro-economic factor, are important to our businesses. In the lending and leasing businesses, higher real interest
rates increase our cost to borrow funds, but also provide higher levels of return on new investments. For our
operations, such as the insurance activities, that are linked less directly to interest rates, rate changes generally affect
returns on investment portfolios.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following discussion of risk factors contains “forward-looking statements,” as discussed in Item 1. “Business”. These
risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or elsewhere. The
following information should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (MD&A), and the consolidated financial statements and related notes
in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Our businesses routinely encounter and address risks, some of which will cause our future results to be different –
sometimes materially different – than we presently anticipate. Discussion about important operational risks that our
businesses encounter can be found in the MD&A section and in the business descriptions in Item 1. “Business” of this
Form 10-K Report. Below, we describe certain important operational and strategic risks. Our reactions to material
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future developments as well as our competitors’ reactions to those developments will affect our future results.

Our growth is subject to global economic and political risks.

We operate in virtually every part of the world and serve customers in more than 100 countries. In 2011,
approximately 50% of our revenue was attributable to activities outside the United States. Our operations are subject
to the effects of global competition and geopolitical risks. They are also affected by local economic environments,
including inflation, recession, currency volatility and actual or anticipated default on sovereign debt. Political changes,
some of which may be disruptive, can interfere with our supply chain, our customers and all of our activities in a
particular location. While some of these global economic and political risks can be hedged using derivatives or other
financial instruments and some are insurable, such attempts to mitigate these risks are costly and not always
successful, and our ability to engage in such mitigation has decreased or become even more costly as a result of more
volatile market conditions.

(8)
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We are subject to a wide variety of laws, regulations and government policies that may change in significant ways.

Our businesses are subject to regulation under a wide variety of U.S. federal and state and non-U.S. laws, regulations
and policies. There can be no assurance that laws and regulations will not be changed in ways that will require us to
modify our business models and objectives or affect our returns on investments by restricting existing activities and
products, subjecting them to escalating costs or prohibiting them outright. In particular, U.S. and non-U.S.
governments are undertaking a substantial revision of the regulation and supervision of bank and non-bank financial
institutions, consumer lending, the over-the-counter derivatives market and tax laws and regulations, which changes
may have an effect on GE’s and GE Capital’s structure, operations, liquidity, effective tax rate and performance. We are
also subject to a number of trade control laws and regulations that may affect our ability to sell our products in global
markets. In addition, we are subject to regulatory risks from laws that reduce the allowable lending rate or limit
consumer borrowing, local capital requirements that may increase the risk of not being able to retrieve assets, and
changes to tax law that may affect our return on investments. For example, GE’s effective tax rate is reduced because
active business income earned and indefinitely reinvested outside the United States is taxed at less than the U.S. rate.
A significant portion of this reduction depends upon a provision of U.S. tax law that defers the imposition of U.S. tax
on certain active financial services income until that income is repatriated to the United States as a dividend. This
provision is consistent with international tax norms and permits U.S. financial services companies to compete more
effectively with non-U.S. banks and other non-U.S. financial institutions in global markets. This provision, which
expired at the end of 2011, had been scheduled to expire and had been extended by Congress on six previous
occasions, including in December of 2010, but there can be no assurance that it will be extended, including
retroactively. In the event the provision is not extended after 2011, the current U.S. tax imposed on active financial
services income earned outside the United States would increase, making it more difficult for U.S. financial services
companies to compete in global markets. If this provision is not extended, we expect our effective tax rate to increase
significantly after 2012. In addition, efforts by public and private sectors to control the growth of healthcare costs may
lead to lower reimbursements and increased utilization controls related to the use of our products by healthcare
providers. Continued government scrutiny, including reviews of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (U.S. FDA)
medical device pre-market authorization and post-market surveillance processes, may impact the requirements for
marketing GE’s products and slow its ability to introduce new products, resulting in an adverse impact on GE’s
business. Furthermore, we have been, and expect to continue, participating in U.S. and international governmental
programs, which require us to comply with strict governmental regulations. Inability to comply with these regulations
could adversely affect our status in these projects and adversely affect our results of operations, financial position and
cash flows.

We are subject to legal proceedings and legal compliance risks.

We are subject to a variety of legal proceedings and legal compliance risks in virtually every part of the world. We,
our representatives, and the industries in which we operate are at times being reviewed or investigated by regulators
and other governmental authorities, which could lead to enforcement actions, fines and penalties or the assertion of
private litigation claims and damages. Additionally, GE and its subsidiaries are involved in a sizable number of
remediation actions to clean up hazardous wastes as required by federal and state laws. These include the dredging of
polychlorinated biphenyls from a 40-mile stretch of the upper Hudson River in New York State. We are also subject
to certain other legal proceedings described in Item 3. “Legal Proceedings” of this Form 10-K Report. While we believe
that we have adopted appropriate risk management and compliance programs, the global and diverse nature of our
operations means that legal and compliance risks will continue to exist and additional legal proceedings and other
contingencies, the outcome of which cannot be predicted with certainty, will arise from time to time.

(9)

Edgar Filing: GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORP - Form 10-K

15



Edgar Filing: GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORP - Form 10-K

16



The success of our business depends on achieving our strategic objectives, including through acquisitions, joint
ventures and dispositions.

With respect to acquisitions and joint ventures, we may not achieve expected returns and other benefits as a result of
various factors, including integration and collaboration challenges, such as personnel and technology. We also
participate in a number of joint ventures with other companies or government enterprises in various markets around
the world, including joint ventures where we may not have control. By their nature, these collaborations may involve a
lesser degree of control over the business operations of the joint venture, which may expose us to additional
operational, financial, legal or compliance risks. We also continue to evaluate the potential disposition of assets and
businesses that may no longer help us meet our objectives. When we decide to sell assets or a business, we may
encounter difficulty in finding buyers or alternative exit strategies on acceptable terms in a timely manner, which
could delay the accomplishment of our strategic objectives. Alternatively, we may dispose of a business at a price or
on terms that are less than we had anticipated. After reaching an agreement with a buyer or seller for the acquisition or
disposition of a business, we are subject to satisfaction of pre-closing conditions as well as to necessary regulatory and
governmental approvals on acceptable terms, which may prevent us from completing the transaction. Dispositions
may also involve continued financial involvement in the divested business, such as through continuing equity
ownership, guarantees, indemnities or other financial obligations. Under these arrangements, performance by the
divested businesses or other conditions outside of our control could affect our future financial results.

Sustained increases in costs of pension and healthcare benefits may reduce GE’s profitability.

Our results of operations may be positively or negatively affected by the amount of income or expense GE records for
its defined benefit pension plans. U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) require that we calculate
income or expense for the plans using actuarial valuations. These valuations reflect assumptions about financial
market and other economic conditions, which may change based on changes in key economic indicators. The most
significant year-end assumptions GE uses to estimate pension expense for 2012 are the discount rate and the expected
long-term rate of return on the plan assets. In addition, we are required to make an annual measurement of plan assets
and liabilities, which may result in a significant change to equity through a reduction or increase to Accumulated gains
(losses) – net, Benefit plans. At the end of 2011, the GE Pension Plan was underfunded, on a U.S. GAAP basis, by
$13.2 billion, and the GE Supplementary Pension Plan, an unfunded plan, had a projected benefit obligation of $5.2
billion. Although GAAP expense and pension funding contributions are not directly related, key economic factors that
affect GAAP expense would also likely affect the amount of cash GE would contribute to pension plans as required
under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). Failure to achieve expected returns on plan assets
driven by various factors, which could include a continued environment of low interest rates or sustained market
volatility, could also result in an increase to the amount of cash GE would be required to contribute to pension plans.
In addition, upward pressure on the cost of providing healthcare benefits to current employees and retirees may
increase future funding obligations. Although GE has actively sought to control increases in these costs, there can be
no assurance that GE will succeed in limiting cost increases, and continued upward pressure could reduce GE’s
profitability.

Conditions in the financial and credit markets may affect the availability and cost of funding.

As disclosed in more detail in the Liquidity and Borrowings section in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K Report, a large portion of our
borrowings is in the form of commercial paper and long-term debt. We continue to rely on the availability of the
unsecured debt markets to access funding for term maturities for 2012 and beyond and to fund our operations without
incurring additional U.S. tax. In addition, we rely on the availability of the commercial paper markets to refinance
maturing commercial paper debt throughout the year. In order to further diversify our funding sources, GE Capital
continues to expand its reliance on alternative sources of funding, including bank deposits, securitizations and other
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asset-based funding. There can be no assurance that we will succeed in increasing the diversification of our funding
sources or that the short and long-term credit markets will be available or, if available, that the cost of funding will not
substantially increase and affect our overall profitability. Factors that may cause an increase in our funding costs
include: a decreased reliance on short-term funding, such as commercial paper, in favor of longer-term funding
arrangements; decreased capacity and increased competition among debt issuers; and increased competition for
deposits in our affiliate banks’ markets. If GE Capital’s cost of funding were to increase, it may adversely affect its
competitive position and result in lower lending margins, earnings and cash flows as well as lower returns on its
shareowner’s equity and invested capital.

(10)
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If conditions in the financial markets deteriorate, they may adversely affect the business and results of operations of
GE Capital as well as the soundness of financial institutions and governments we deal with.

If conditions in the financial markets deteriorate, there can be no assurance that we will be able to recover fully the
value of certain assets, including goodwill, intangibles and tax assets. In addition, deterioration in the economy and in
default and recovery rates could require us to increase allowances for loan losses, impairments or write-offs, which,
depending on the amount of the increase, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and
results of operations.

In addition, GE Capital has exposure to many different industries and counterparties, including sovereign
governments, and routinely executes transactions with counterparties in the financial services industry, including
brokers and dealers, commercial banks, investment banks and other institutional clients. Many of these transactions
expose GE Capital to credit risk in the event of default of our counterparty or client. In addition, GE Capital’s credit
risk may be increased when the collateral held cannot be realized upon sale or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to
recover the full amount of the loan or derivative exposure due to us. GE Capital also has exposure to these financial
institutions in the form of unsecured debt instruments held in its investment portfolios. GE Capital has policies
relating to initial credit rating requirements and to exposure limits to counterparties (as described in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K
Report), which are designed to limit credit and liquidity risk. There can be no assurance, however, that any losses or
impairments to the carrying value of financial assets would not materially and adversely affect GE Capital’s business,
financial position and results of operations.

The real estate markets in which GE Capital participates are highly dependent on economic conditions, the
deterioration of which may adversely affect GE Capital’s business, financial position and results of operations.

GE Capital participates in the commercial real estate market in two ways: we provide financing for the acquisition,
refinancing and renovation of various types of properties, and we also acquire equity positions in various types of
properties or real estate investments. The profitability of real estate investments is largely dependent upon the
economic conditions in specific geographic markets in which the properties are located and the perceived value of
those markets at the time of sale. The level of transactions for real estate assets continue to remain at levels below
historical norms in many of the markets in which we operate. High levels of unemployment, slowdown in business
activity, excess inventory capacity and limited availability of credit may continue to adversely affect the value of real
estate assets and collateral to real estate loans GE Capital holds. Under current market and credit conditions, there can
be no assurance as to the level of sales GE Capital will complete or the net sales proceeds we will realize. Also,
occupancy rates and market rent levels may worsen, which may result in impairments to the carrying value of equity
investments or increases in the allowance for loan losses on commercial real estate loans.

GE Capital is also a residential mortgage lender in certain geographic markets outside the United States that have
been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by declines in real estate values and home sale volumes, job losses,
consumer bankruptcies and other factors that may negatively impact the credit performance of our mortgage loans.
Our allowance for loan losses on these mortgage loans is based on our analysis of current and historical delinquency
and loan performance, as well as other management assumptions that may be inaccurate predictors of credit
performance in this environment. There can be no assurance that, in this environment, credit performance will not be
materially worse than anticipated and, as a result, materially and adversely affect GE Capital’s business, financial
position and results of operations.

Failure to maintain our credit ratings could adversely affect our cost of funds and related margins, liquidity,
competitive position and access to capital markets.
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The major debt rating agencies routinely evaluate our debt. This evaluation is based on a number of factors, which
include financial strength as well as transparency with rating agencies and timeliness of financial reporting. As of
December 31, 2011, GE and GECC’s long-term unsecured debt credit rating from Standard and Poor’s Ratings Service
(S&P) was “AA+” (the second highest of 22 rating categories) with a stable outlook and from Moody’s Investors Service
(“Moody’s”) was “Aa2” (the third highest of 21 rating categories) with a stable outlook. As of December 31, 2011, GE, GE
Capital Services and GE Capital’s short-term credit rating from S&P was “A-1+” (the highest rating category of six
categories) and from Moody’s was “P-1” (the highest rating category of four categories). There can be no assurance that
we will be able to maintain our credit ratings and failure to do so could adversely affect our cost of funds and related
margins, liquidity, competitive position and access to capital markets. Various debt and derivative instruments,
guarantees and covenants would require posting additional capital or collateral in the event of a ratings downgrade,
which, depending on the extent of the downgrade, could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and capital
position.

(11)
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Current conditions in the global economy and the major industries we serve also may materially and adversely affect
the business and results of operations of GE’s non-financial businesses.

The business and operating results of GE’s industrial businesses have been, and will continue to be, affected by
worldwide economic conditions, including conditions in the air and rail transportation, energy generation, healthcare,
home building and other major industries GE serves. As a result of slower global economic growth, the credit market
crisis, declining consumer and business confidence, increased unemployment, reduced levels of capital expenditures,
fluctuating commodity prices, bankruptcies, government deficit reduction and austerity measures and other challenges
affecting the global economy, some of GE’s customers have experienced deterioration of their businesses, cash flow
shortages, and difficulty obtaining financing. As a result, existing or potential customers may delay or cancel plans to
purchase GE’s products and services, including large infrastructure projects, and may not be able to fulfill their
obligations to GE in a timely fashion. In particular, the airline industry is highly cyclical, and the level of demand for
air travel is correlated to the strength of the U.S. and international economies. An extended period of slow growth in
the U.S. or internationally that results in the loss of business and leisure traffic could have a material adverse effect on
our airline customers and the viability of their business. Service contract cancellations could affect GE’s ability to fully
recover its contract costs and estimated earnings. Further, our vendors may be experiencing similar conditions, which
may impact their ability to fulfill their obligations to GE. If slower growth in the global economy continues for a
significant period or there is significant deterioration in the global economy, GE’s results of operations, financial
position and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Increased IT security requirements, vulnerabilities, threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer crime could
pose a risk to our systems, networks, products, solutions, services and data.

Increased global IT security requirements, vulnerabilities, threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer crime
pose a risk to the security of our systems and networks and the confidentiality, availability and integrity of our data.
While we attempt to mitigate these risks by employing a number of measures, including employee training,
comprehensive monitoring of our networks and systems, and maintenance of backup and protective systems, our
systems, networks, products, solutions and services remain potentially vulnerable to advanced persistent threats. We
also may have access to sensitive, confidential or personal data or information in certain of our businesses that is
subject to privacy and security laws, regulations and customer-imposed controls. Despite our efforts to protect
sensitive, confidential or personal data or  information, our facilities and systems and those of our third-party service
providers may be vulnerable to security breaches, theft, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors that
could potentially lead to the compromising of sensitive, confidential or personal data  or  information, improper use of
our systems, software solutions or networks, unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction of
information, defective products, production downtimes and operational disruptions, which in turn could adversely
affect our reputation, competitiveness and results of operations.

GE may face quality problems from operational failures that could have a material adverse effect on our business,
reputation, financial position and results of operations, and we are dependent on market acceptance of new product
introductions and product innovations for continued revenue growth.

GE produces highly sophisticated products and provides specialized services for both GE and third-party products that
incorporate or use leading-edge technology, including both hardware and software. While GE has built extensive
operational processes to ensure that the design, manufacture and servicing of such products meet the most rigorous
quality standards, there can be no assurance that GE or its customers will not experience operational process failures
that could result in potential product, safety, regulatory or environmental risks. Such operational failures or quality
issues could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial position and results of operations. In
addition, the markets in which we operate are subject to technological change. Our long-term operating results depend
substantially upon our ability to continually develop, introduce, and market new and innovative products, to modify
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existing products, to customize products, to respond to technological change and to execute our product development
in line with GE’s projected cost estimates.

(12)
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Our intellectual property portfolio may not prevent competitors from independently developing products and services
similar to or duplicative to GE’s.

Our patents and other intellectual property may not prevent competitors from independently developing or selling
products and services similar to or duplicative of GE’s, and there can be no assurance that the resources invested by us
to protect our intellectual property will be sufficient or that our intellectual property portfolio will adequately deter
misappropriation or improper use of our technology. We could also face competition in some countries where we have
not invested in an intellectual property portfolio. GE also faces attempts by third parties to gain unauthorized access to
our information technology systems for the purpose of improperly acquiring our trade secrets or confidential business
information. The theft or unauthorized use or publication of GE’s trade secrets and other confidential business
information as a result of such an incident could adversely affect GE’s competitive position and the value of its
investment in research and development. In addition, we may be the target of aggressive and opportunistic
enforcement of patents by third parties, including non-practicing entities. Regardless of the merit of such claims,
responding to infringement claims can be expensive and time-consuming. If GE is found to infringe any third-party
rights, GE could be required to pay substantial damages or GE could be enjoined from offering some of its products
and services. Also, there can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain or re-new from third parties the licenses
we need in the future, and there is no assurance that such licenses can be obtained on reasonable terms.

Significant raw material shortages, supplier capacity constraints, supplier production disruptions, supplier quality and
sourcing issues or price increases could increase our operating costs and adversely impact the competitive positions of
GE’s products.

GE’s reliance on third-party suppliers, contract manufacturers and service providers and commodity markets to secure
raw materials, parts, components and sub-systems used in its products exposes GE to volatility in the prices and
availability of these materials, parts, components, systems and services. A disruption in deliveries from GE’s
third-party suppliers, contract manufacturers or service providers, capacity constraints, production disruptions, price
increases, or decreased availability of raw materials or commodities, could have an adverse effect on GE’s ability to
meet its commitments to customers or increase its operating costs. Quality and sourcing issues experienced by
third-party providers can also adversely affect the quality and effectiveness of GE’s products and services and result in
liability and reputational harm.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

We conduct our business from various facilities, most of which are leased. The locations of our primary facilities are
described in Item 1. “Business” of this Form 10-K Report.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

As previously reported, in September 2010, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York
granted our motion to dismiss in its entirety with prejudice a purported class action under the federal securities laws
naming us as defendant, as well as our chief executive officer and chief financial officer. In this action, the plaintiffs
alleged that during a conference call with analysts on September 25, 2008, defendants made false and misleading
statements concerning (i) the state of GE’s funding, cash flows, and liquidity and (ii) the question of issuing additional
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equity, which caused economic loss to those shareholders who purchased GE stock between September 25, 2008 and
October 2, 2008, when we announced the pricing of a common stock offering. Plaintiffs’ motion to appeal was denied
in November 2011.

As previously reported, in March and April 2009, shareholders filed purported class actions under the federal
securities laws in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York naming as defendants GE, a
number of GE officers (including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer) and our directors. The
complaints, which have now been consolidated, seek unspecified damages based on allegations related to statements
regarding the GE dividend and projected losses and earnings for GECC in 2009. In January 2012, the District Court
granted in part, and denied in part, our motion to dismiss.

(13)
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As also previously reported, a shareholder derivative action seeking unspecified damages was filed in federal court in
Connecticut in May 2009 making essentially the same allegations as the New York class actions described above. GE’s
motion to transfer the derivative action to the Southern District of New York as a related case was granted in February
2010, and our motion to dismiss the complaint was granted in April 2011. The plaintiff has filed an appeal.

As previously reported, in March 2010, a shareholder derivative action was filed in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of New York naming as defendants GE, a number of GE officers (including our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer) and our directors. The complaint seeks unspecified damages and
principally alleges breaches of fiduciary duty and other causes of action related to the GE dividend and SEC matter
which GE resolved in August 2009 and alleged mismanagement of our financial services businesses. In September
2011, our motion to dismiss was granted. A motion for leave to file an amended complaint is pending.

As previously reported, the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) are conducting an industry-wide investigation of marketing and sales of guaranteed investment
contracts, and other financial instruments, to municipalities in connection with tax-exempt bonds. In December 2011,
GE Funding Capital Market Services (GE FCMS), an indirect subsidiary of General Electric Capital Corporation
(GECC), announced that it had reached a settlement with the SEC, the DOJ, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (IRS),
and a working group of 25 State Attorneys General (the working group, and collectively with the DOJ, SEC and IRS,
the agencies) to resolve their investigations of conduct by certain former employees of its guaranteed investment
contract business, which was discontinued in April 2010. In January 2012, the State of California joined the working
group’s settlement with GE FCMS. This concludes the agencies’ investigations of GE FCMS’ conduct.  Under the terms
of the settlements, GE FCMS will pay a settlement amount of $70.4 million to the agencies. In connection with the
SEC and State Attorneys General settlements, GE FCMS neither admits nor denies the allegations in the SEC’s
complaint and in the working group’s settlement agreement.

As previously reported, in January 2011, an action was brought in Utah Federal court, and subsequently transferred to
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, against Trinity Plus Funding Co., LLC (Trinity
Plus) and FGIC Capital Market Services, Inc. (the predecessor of GE FCMS) asserting antitrust violations. In April
2011, a third-party action was brought against Trinity Plus in the Massachusetts Superior Court, Suffolk County
alleging violations of Massachusetts statutory and common laws. Additionally, in 2011, a number of additional
actions were brought (or transferred to or amended) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
New York against GECC, Trinity Funding Co., LLC (Trinity Funding), GE FCMS and Trinity Plus alleging antitrust
violations, all of which were dismissed in September 2011, except for one action where our motion to dismiss was
denied.  These actions seek unspecified damages.

As previously reported, and in compliance with SEC requirements to disclose environmental proceedings where the
government is a party potentially involving monetary sanctions of $100,000 or greater, in June 2008, the
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) issued a notice of violation and in January 2011 filed a complaint alleging
non-compliance with the Clean Air Act at a power cogeneration plant in Homer City, PA. The Pennsylvania
Department of Environmental Protection, the New York Attorney General’s Office and the New Jersey Department of
Environmental Protection have intervened in the EPA case. The plant is operated exclusively by EME Homer City
Generation L.P., and is owned and leased to EME Homer City Generation L.P. by subsidiaries of GECC and one other
entity. The complaints did not indicate a specific penalty amount but make reference to statutory fines. In October
2011, the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania granted a motion to dismiss the matter with
prejudice with regard to all federal counts, and with leave to re-file in state court for the non-federal counts. On
December 8, 2011, EPA filed notice of its intent to appeal.  NY, NJ and PA filed similar notices on December 9.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
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Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.

See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”
of this Form 10-K Report. Our common stock is owned entirely by GE Capital Services, Inc. and, therefore, there is
no trading market in such stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 

Revenues $ 45,730 $ 46,422 $ 48,906 $ 65,900 $ 65,625 
Earnings from continuing operations
    attributable to GECC 6,549 3,158 1,325 7,841 12,179 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued
    operations, net of taxes attributable
to GECC 17 (867) 288 (419) (1,941)
Net earnings attributable to GECC 6,566 2,291 1,613 7,422 10,238 
GECC Shareowner's equity 80,045 72,881 73,718 58,229 61,230 
Short-term borrowings 131,292 113,646 127,947 157,811 173,664 
Non-recourse borrowings of
consolidated
    securitization entities 29,258 30,018 3,622 4,464 5,575 
Bank deposits 43,115 37,298 33,519 36,854 11,968 
Long-term borrowings 234,320 284,346 325,357 311,204 304,145 
Return on average GECC
shareowner's equity(a) 9.01 % 5.43 % 2.60 % 14.70 % 23.59 %
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 1.52 1.13 0.83 1.26 1.62 
Ratio of debt to equity at GECC 5.47:1(b) 6.38:1(b) 6.65:1(b) 8.76:1 8.09:1
Financing receivables – net 289,307 312,234 317,162 353,490 354,930 
Total assets $ 553,662 $ 577,712 $ 622,833 $ 636,388 $ 620,662 

(a)Represents earnings from continuing operations before accounting changes divided by average total shareowner’s
equity, excluding effects of discontinued operations (on an annual basis, calculated using a five-point average).
Average total shareowner’s equity, excluding effects of discontinued operations, as of the end of each of the years in
the five-year period ended December 31, 2011, is described in the Supplemental Information section in Part II,
Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K
Report.

(b)  Ratios of 4.04:1, 4.94:1 and 5.17:1 for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, net of cash and equivalents and with
classification of hybrid debt as equity.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Operations

In the accompanying analysis of financial information, we sometimes use information derived from consolidated
financial information but not presented in our financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Certain of these data are considered “non-GAAP financial measures” under the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) rules. For such measures, we have provided supplemental
explanations and reconciliations in the Supplemental Information section.

We present Management’s Discussion of Operations in four parts: Overview of Our Earnings from 2009 through 2011,
Global Risk Management, Segment Operations and Geographic Operations. Unless otherwise indicated, we refer to
captions such as revenues and earnings from continuing operations attributable to General Electric Capital
Corporation (GE Capital or GECC) simply as “revenues” and “earnings” throughout this Management’s Discussion and
Analysis. Similarly, discussion of other matters in our consolidated financial statements relates to continuing
operations unless otherwise indicated.

On February 22, 2012, our parent, General Electric Capital Services, Inc. (GE Capital Services or GECS) was merged
with and into, GECC. The merger simplified General Electric Company's (GE Company or GE)  financial services’
corporate structure by consolidating financial services entities and assets within its organization and simplifying
Securities and Exchange Commission and regulatory reporting. Upon the merger, GECC became the surviving
corporation and assumed all of GECS’ rights and obligations and became wholly-owned directly by GE. GECC’s
continuing operations now includes the run-off insurance operations previously held and managed in GECS.
References to GECS, GECC and GE Capital in this Form 10-K Report relate to the entities as they existed during
2011 and do not reflect the February 22, 2012 merger.

Overview of Our Earnings from 2009 through 2011

Our earnings increased to $6.5 billion in 2011 and $3.2 billion in 2010 due to the continued stabilization in the overall
economic environment. Over the last several years, we tightened underwriting standards, shifted teams from
origination to collection and maintained a proactive risk management focus. This, along with recent increased stability
in the financial markets, contributed to lower losses and a significant increase in segment profit in 2011 and 2010. GE
also reduced the GE Capital ending net investment (ENI), excluding cash and equivalents, from $526 billion at
January 1, 2010 to $445 billion at December 31, 2011. We are a diversely funded and smaller, more focused finance
company with strong positions in several commercial mid-market and consumer financing segments.

Commercial Lending and Leasing (CLL) (41% and 41% of total three-year revenues and segment profit, respectively)
earnings increased by $1.2 billion in 2011 and by $0.6 billion in 2010, reflecting lower delinquencies, losses and
impairments. CLL continues to originate at higher margins and apply its disciplined risk management practices while
integrating acquisitions to the portfolio and reducing costs through technology and productivity in order to grow in
2012 and beyond by reinvesting in higher returning core businesses. During 2011, we completed the sale of our CLL
marine container leasing business, which consists of our controlling interests in the GE SeaCo joint venture along with
other owned marine container assets, and our CLL trailer fleet services business in Mexico. The most significant
acquisitions affecting CLL results in 2009 were CitiCapital and Interbanca S.p.A. The acquisitions collectively
contributed $1.7 billion and $0.4 billion to 2009 revenues and net earnings, respectively. Also during 2009, we
recorded a gain on the sale of a limited partnership interest in Penske Truck Leasing Co., L.P. (PTL) and a related gain
on the remeasurement of the retained interest to fair value totaling $0.3 billion.
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Consumer (36% and 58% of total three-year revenues and total segment profit, respectively) earnings increased by
$1.0 billion in 2011 and by $1.2 billion in 2010, reflecting lower delinquencies, losses and impairments. In response,
Consumer continued to reassess strategic alternatives and tighten underwriting, increased focus on collection
effectiveness and adjusted reserve levels in response to when it is probable that losses have been incurred in the
respective portfolios. During 2011, we completed the sale of our U.S. recreational vehicle and marine equipment
finance business (Consumer RV Marine), Consumer Mexico, Consumer Singapore, our Consumer home lending
operations in Australia and New Zealand (Australian Home Lending) and our Consumer business in Canada. Also,
during 2011, we sold a substantial portion of our Garanti Bank equity investment and recorded a pre-tax gain of $0.7
billion. During 2010, we completed the sale of our Central American bank and card business, BAC Credomatic
GECF, Inc. (BAC). During 2009, we completed the sale of our Consumer businesses in Austria and Finland, the credit
card and auto businesses in the U.K., the credit card business in Ireland and acquired a controlling interest in BAC.

(16)
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Real Estate (8% and (33)% of total three-year revenues and total segment profit, respectively) earnings increased by
$0.8 billion in 2011 and declined by $0.2 billion in 2010. In response to the real estate and credit market decline that
began in 2008, Real Estate re-aligned its business strategy to a longer-term hold model utilizing its operating skills
and global asset management resources to maximize existing portfolio value. During 2011, commercial real estate
markets showed signs of improved stability; however, the pace of improvement varied significantly by asset class and
market and the long-term outlook remains uncertain. Given the current market conditions, there continues to be risk
and uncertainty surrounding commercial real estate values, and despite indications of some market improvement, real
estate liquidity remains limited in certain markets. Slow economic recovery could result in a continuation of elevated
delinquency levels, provisions for losses on financing receivables and real estate investment impairments, which could
result in further earnings declines.

Energy Financial Services (4% and 8% of total three-year revenues and total segment profit, respectively) earnings
increased by $0.1 billion in 2011 and by $0.2 billion in 2010. Energy Financial Services has over $18 billion in energy
investments, often financed for 20 to 30 year terms, about 13% of the assets held outside of the U.S.

GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) (11% and 26% of total three-year revenues and total segment profit,
respectively) is a leader in commercial aircraft leasing and finance. In a competitive and challenging environment, this
business’ earnings decreased by an insignificant amount in 2011 after increasing by $0.2 billion in 2010. At December
31, 2011, we owned 1,536 commercial aircraft, of which all but two were on lease, and we held $22.2 billion (list
price) of multiple-year orders for various Boeing, Airbus and other aircraft, including 90 aircraft ($5.6 billion list
price) scheduled for delivery in 2012, all under agreement to commence operations with commercial airline
customers.

Overall, acquisitions contributed $0.3 billion, $0.2 billion and $2.1 billion to total revenues in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively, excluding the effects of acquisition gains following our adoption of an amendment to Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation. Our earnings
included $0.1 billion, $0.1 billion and $0.4 billion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, from acquired businesses. We
integrate acquisitions as quickly as possible. Only revenues and earnings from the date we complete the acquisition
through the end of the fourth following quarter are attributed to such businesses. Dispositions also affected our
ongoing results through lower revenues of $1.1 billion, $2.1 billion and $4.5 billion in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. This resulted in lower earnings of an insignificant amount and $0.3 billion in 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and higher earnings of $0.3 billion in 2009.

Significant matters relating to our Statement of Earnings are explained below.

Discontinued Operations. Consistent with our goal of reducing GECC ENI and focusing our businesses on selective
financial services products where we have domain knowledge, broad distribution, and the ability to earn a consistent
return on capital, while managing our overall balance sheet size and risk, in 2011, we sold Consumer RV Marine,
Consumer Mexico, Consumer Singapore and Australian Home Lending.  Discontinued operations also includes BAC,
our U.S. mortgage business (WMC) and GE Money Japan (our Japanese personal loan business, Lake, and our
Japanese mortgage and card businesses, excluding our investment in GE Nissen Credit Co., Ltd.). All of these
operations were previously reported in the Consumer segment.

We reported the operations described above as discontinued operations for all periods presented. For further
information about discontinued operations, see “Segment Operations – Discontinued Operations” in this Item and Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form
10-K Report.
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Interest on borrowings amounted to $13.8 billion, $14.5 billion and $16.9 billion in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Average borrowings declined from 2010 to 2011 and from 2009 to 2010, in line with changes in average
assets. Interest rates have decreased over the three-year period primarily attributable to declining global benchmark
interest rates. Our average borrowings were $447.0 billion, $466.8 billion and $478.5 billion in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. Our average composite effective interest rate was 3.1% in 2011, 3.1% in 2010 and 3.5% in 2009. In
2011, our average assets of $563.9 billion were 3% lower than in 2010, which in turn were 3% lower than in 2009.
See the Liquidity and Borrowings section for a discussion of liquidity, borrowings and interest rate risk management.

(17)
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Income taxes have a significant effect on our net earnings. As a global commercial enterprise, our tax rates are
affected by many factors, including our global mix of earnings, the extent to which those global earnings are
indefinitely reinvested outside the United States, legislation, acquisitions, dispositions and tax characteristics of our
income. Our tax rates are also affected by tax incentives introduced in the U.S. and other countries to encourage and
support certain types of activity. Our tax returns are routinely audited and settlements of issues raised in these audits
sometimes affect our tax provisions.

Our effective income tax rate is lower than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of benefits from lower-taxed
global operations, including the use of global funding structures. There is a tax benefit from global operations as
non-U.S. income is subject to local country tax rates that are significantly below the 35% U.S. statutory rate. These
non-U.S. earnings have been indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. and are not subject to current U.S. income tax.
The rate of tax on our indefinitely reinvested non-U.S. earnings is below the 35% U.S. statutory rate because we have
significant business operations subject to tax in countries where the tax on that income is lower than the U.S. statutory
rate and because GECC funds the majority of its non-U.S. operations through foreign companies that are subject to
low foreign taxes.

We expect our ability to benefit from non-U.S. income taxed at less than the U.S. rate to continue subject to changes
of U.S. or foreign law, including, as discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report, the expiration of the U.S. tax law provision
deferring tax on active financial services income. In addition, since this benefit depends on management’s intention to
indefinitely reinvest amounts outside the U.S., our tax provision will increase to the extent we no longer indefinitely
reinvest foreign earnings.

Our benefits from lower taxed global operations were slightly lower at $1.1 billion in 2011 principally because of
lower earnings in our operations subject to tax in countries where the tax on that income is lower than the U.S.
statutory rate partially offset by a decrease in losses for which there was not a full tax benefit. To the extent global
interest rates and operating income increase we would expect tax benefits to increase, subject to management’s
intention to indefinitely reinvest those earnings.

Our benefit from lower taxed global operations included the effect of the lower foreign tax rate on our indefinitely
reinvested non-U.S. earnings which provided a tax benefit of $1.3 billion in 2011 and $1.5 billion in 2010. The tax
benefit from non-U.S. income taxed at a local country rather than the U.S. statutory tax rate is reported in the effective
tax rate reconciliation in the line “Tax on global activities including exports.”

Our benefits from lower taxed global operations declined to $1.1 billion in 2010 from $2.4 billion in 2009, principally
because of lower earnings in our operations subject to tax in countries where the tax on that income is lower than the
U.S. statutory rate and from losses for which there was not a full tax benefit. These decreases also reflected
management’s decision in 2009 to indefinitely reinvest prior year earnings outside the U.S.

GE and GECC file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. This enables GE to use GECC tax deductions and
credits to reduce the tax that otherwise would have been payable by GE. The GECC effective tax rate for each period
reflects the benefit of these tax reductions in the consolidated return. GE makes cash payments to GECC for these tax
reductions at the time GE’s tax payments are due. The effect of GECC on the amount of the consolidated tax liability
from the formation of the NBC Universal (NBCU) joint venture will be settled in cash when GECC tax deductions
and credits otherwise would have reduced the liability of the group absent the tax on joint venture formation.

Our effective tax rate was 12.8 % in 2011, compared with (42.7)% in 2010 and 154.3% in 2009. Comparing a tax
benefit to pre-tax income resulted in a negative tax rate in 2010. Comparing a tax benefit to a pre-tax loss results in the
positive tax rate in 2009. The GECC tax expense of $1.0 billion in 2011 increased by $1.9 billion from a $0.9 billion
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benefit in 2010. The higher 2011 tax expense resulted principally from higher pre-tax income in 2011 than in 2010,
which increased pre-tax income $5.4 billion and increased the expense ($1.9 billion). Also increasing the expense was
a benefit from resolution of the 2006-2007 Internal Revenue Service (IRS) audit ($0.2 billion) that was less than the
benefit from resolution of the 2003-2005 IRS audit ($0.3 billion) both of which are reported in the caption “All
other-net” in the effective tax rate reconciliation in Note10 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.
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The tax benefit of $3.8 billion in 2009 decreased by $2.9 billion to $0.9 billion in 2010. The lower 2010 tax benefit
resulted in large part from the change from a pre-tax loss in 2009 to pre-tax income in 2010, which increased pre-tax
income $4.7 billion and decreased the benefit ($1.6 billion), the non-repeat of the one-time benefit related to the 2009
decision (discussed below) to indefinitely reinvest undistributed prior year non-U.S. earnings ($0.7 billion), and a
decrease in lower-taxed global operations in 2010 as compared to 2009 ($0.6 billion) caused in part by an increase in
losses for which there was not a full tax benefit, including an increase in the valuation allowance associated with the
deferred tax asset related to the 2008 loss on the sale of GE Money Japan ($0.2 billion). These lower benefits were
partially offset by the benefit from the resolution of the 2003-2005 IRS audit ($0.3 billion).

Global Risk Management

A disciplined approach to risk is important in a diversified organization like ours in order to ensure that we are
executing according to our strategic objectives and that we only accept risk for which we are adequately compensated.
We evaluate risk at the individual transaction level, and evaluate aggregated risk at the customer, industry, geographic
and collateral-type levels, where appropriate.

Risk assessment and risk management are the responsibility of management. The GE Board of Directors (Board) has
oversight for risk management with a focus on the most significant risks facing the company, including strategic,
operational, financial and legal and compliance risks. At the end of each year, management and the Board jointly
develop a list of major risks that GE plans to prioritize in the next year. Throughout the year, the Board and the
committees to which it has delegated responsibility dedicate a portion of their meetings to review and discuss specific
risk topics in greater detail. Strategic, operational and reputational risks are presented and discussed in the context of
the CEO’s report on operations to the Board at regularly scheduled Board meetings and at presentations to the Board
and its committees by the vice chairmen, chief risk officer (CRO), general counsel and other employees. The Board
has delegated responsibility for the oversight of specific risks to Board committees as follows:

•  In 2011, the Board established a Risk Committee. This Committee oversees GE’s risk management of key risks,
including strategic, operational (including product risk), financial (including credit, liquidity and exposure to broad
market risk) and reputational risks, and the guidelines, policies and processes for monitoring and mitigating such
risks. Starting in 2011, as part of its overall risk oversight responsibilities for GE, the Risk Committee also began
overseeing risks related to GE Capital, which previously was subject to direct Audit Committee oversight.

•  The Audit Committee oversees GE’s and GE Capital’s policies and processes relating to the financial statements, the
financial reporting process, compliance and auditing. The GE Audit Committee monitors ongoing compliance
issues and matters, and also annually conducts an assessment of compliance issues and programs.

•  The Public Responsibilities Committee oversees risk management related to GE’s public policy initiatives, the
environment and similar matters, and monitors GE’s environmental, health and safety compliance.

•  The Management Development and Compensation Committee oversees the risk management associated with
management resources, structure, succession planning, management development and selection processes, and
includes a review of incentive compensation arrangements to confirm that incentive pay does not encourage
unnecessary risk taking and to review and discuss, at least annually, the relationship between risk management
policies and practices, corporate strategy and senior executive compensation.

•  The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee oversees risk related to the company’s governance structure
and processes and risks arising from related person transactions.
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The GE Board’s risk oversight process builds upon management’s risk assessment and mitigation processes, which
include standardized reviews of long-term strategic and operational planning; executive development and evaluation;
code of conduct compliance under GE’s The Spirit & The Letter; regulatory compliance; health, safety and
environmental compliance; financial reporting and controllership; and information technology and security. GE’s CRO
is responsible for overseeing and coordinating risk assessment and mitigation on an enterprise-wide basis. The CRO
leads the Corporate Risk Function and is responsible for the identification of key business risks, providing for
appropriate management of these risks within GE Board guidelines, and enforcement through policies and procedures.
Management has two committees to further assist it in assessing and mitigating risk. The Corporate Risk Committee
(CRC) meets periodically, is chaired by the CRO and comprises the Chairman and CEO, vice chairmen, general
counsel and other senior level business and functional leaders. It has principal responsibility for evaluating and
addressing risks escalated to the CRO and Corporate Risk Function. The Policy Compliance Review Board met 15
times in 2011, is chaired by the company’s general counsel and includes the chief financial officer and other senior
level functional leaders. It has principal responsibility for monitoring compliance matters across the company.

GE's Corporate Risk Function leverages the risk infrastructures in each of our businesses, which have adopted an
approach that corresponds to the company’s overall risk policies, guidelines and review mechanisms. Our risk
infrastructure operates at the business and functional level and is designed to identify, evaluate and mitigate risks
within each of the following categories:

•  Strategic. Strategic risk relates to the company’s future business plans and strategies, including the risks associated
with the markets and industries in which we operate, demand for our products and services, competitive threats,
technology and product innovation, mergers and acquisitions and public policy.

•  Operational. Operational risk relates to risks (systems, processes, people and external events) that affect the
operation of our businesses. It includes product life cycle and execution, product safety and performance,
information management and data protection and security, business disruption, human resources and reputation.

•  Financial. Financial risk relates to our ability to meet financial obligations and mitigate credit risk, liquidity
risk and exposure to broad market risks, including volatility in foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates and commodity prices. Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to accommodate liability maturities,
fund asset growth and meet contractual obligations through access to funding at reasonable market rates, and
credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from a customer or counterparty failure to meet its contractual
obligations. We face credit risk in our industrial businesses, as well as in our GE Capital investing, lending
and leasing activities and derivative financial instruments activities.

•  Legal and Compliance. Legal and compliance risk relates to risks arising from the government and regulatory
environment and action, compliance with integrity policies and procedures, including those relating to financial
reporting, environmental health and safety, and intellectual property risks. Government and regulatory risk includes
the risk that the government or regulatory actions will impose additional cost on us or cause us to have to change
our business models or practices.

Risks identified through our risk management processes are prioritized and, depending on the probability and severity
of the risk, escalated to the CRO. The CRO, in coordination with the CRC, assigns responsibility for the risks to the
business or functional leader most suited to manage the risk. Assigned owners are required to continually monitor,
evaluate and report on risks for which they bear responsibility. Enterprise risk leaders within each business and
corporate function are responsible to present to the CRO and CRC risk assessments and key risks at least annually.
We have general response strategies for managing risks, which categorize risks according to whether the company
will avoid, transfer, reduce or accept the risk. These response strategies are tailored to ensure that risks are within
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acceptable GE Board general guidelines.

Depending on the nature of the risk involved and the particular business or function affected, we use a wide variety of
risk mitigation strategies, including delegation of authorities, standardized processes and strategic planning reviews,
operating reviews, insurance, and hedging. As a matter of policy, we generally hedge the risk of fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. GE’s service businesses employ a comprehensive
tollgate process leading up to and through the execution of a contractual service agreement to mitigate legal, financial
and operational risks. Furthermore, we centrally manage some risks by purchasing insurance, the amount of which is
determined by balancing the level of risk retained or assumed with the cost of transferring risk to others. We manage
the risk of fluctuations in economic activity and customer demand by monitoring industry dynamics and responding
accordingly, including by adjusting capacity, implementing cost reductions and engaging in mergers, acquisitions and
dispositions.

(20)
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GE Capital Risk Management and Oversight

GE Capital has a robust risk infrastructure and robust processes to manage risks related to its businesses, and the GE
Corporate Risk Function relies upon them in fulfilling its mission.

The GE Risk Committee was established to oversee GE Capital’s risk appetite, risk assessment and management
processes previously undertaken by the GE Audit Committee.  The GECC Board of Directors oversees the GE Capital
risk management framework, and approves all significant acquisitions and dispositions as well as significant
borrowings and investments. The GECC Board of Directors exercises control over investment activities in the
business units through delegations of authority. All participants in the GE Capital risk management process must
comply with approval limits established by the GECC Board.

The Enterprise Risk Management Committee (ERMC), which comprises the most senior leaders in GE Capital as well
as the GE CRO, oversees the implementation of the GE Capital's risk appetite, and senior management’s establishment
of appropriate systems (including policies, procedures, and management committees) to ensure enterprise risks are
effectively identified, measured, monitored, and controlled. Day to day risk oversight for GE Capital is provided by an
independent global risk management organization which includes the GE Capital corporate function in addition to risk
officers embedded in the individual business units. The Risk Leaders in the business units have dual reporting
relationships, reporting both into the local business management and also to the GE Capital corporate-level function
leader, which further strengthens their independence.

GE Capital’s risk management approach rests upon three major tenets: a broad spread of risk based on managed
exposure limits; senior, secured commercial financings; and a hold-to-maturity model with transactions underwritten
to “on-book” standards. Dedicated risk professionals across the businesses include underwriters, portfolio managers,
collectors, environmental or engineering specialists, and specialized asset managers. The senior risk officers have, on
average, over 25 years of experience.

GE Capital manages risk categories identified in GE Capital’s business environment, which if materialized, could
prevent GE Capital from achieving its risk objectives and/or result in losses. These risks are defined as GE Capital’s
Enterprise Risk Universe, which includes the following risks: strategic (including earnings and capital), liquidity,
credit, market and  operational (including financial, compliance, information technology, human resources and legal).
Reputational risk is considered and managed across each of the categories. GE Capital has made significant
investments in resources to enhance its risk management infrastructure, in particular with regard to compliance,
market and operational risk, liquidity and capital management.

GE Capital’s Corporate Risk function, in consultation with the ERMC, updates the Enterprise Risk Appetite Statement
annually.  This document articulates the enterprise risk objectives, its key universe of risks and the supporting limit
structure. GE Capital’s risk appetite is determined relative to its desired risk objectives, including, but not limited to
credit ratings, capital levels, liquidity management, regulatory assessments, earnings, dividends and compliance. GE
Capital determines its risk appetite through consideration of portfolio analytics, including stress testing and economic
capital measurement, experience and judgment of senior risk officers, current portfolio levels, strategic planning, and
regulatory and rating agency expectations.

The Enterprise Risk Appetite is presented to the GECC Board and the GE Risk Committee for review and approval at
least annually. On a quarterly basis, the status of GE Capital's performance against these limits is reviewed by the GE
Risk Committee.

GE Capital acknowledges risk-taking as a fundamental characteristic of providing financial services.  It is inherent to
its business and arises in lending, leasing and investment transactions undertaken by GE Capital. GE Capital utilizes
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its risk capacity judiciously in pursuit of its strategic goals and risk objectives.
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GE Capital uses stress testing for risk, liquidity and capital adequacy assessment and management purposes, and as an
integral part of GE Capital’s overall planning processes. Stress testing results inform key strategic portfolio decisions
such as capital allocation, assist in developing the risk appetite and limits, and help in assessing product specific risk
to guide the development and modification of product structures. The ERMC approves the high-level scenarios for,
and reviews the results of, GE Capital-wide stress tests across key risk areas, such as credit and investment, liquidity
and market risk. Stress test results are also expressed in terms of impact to capital levels and metrics, and that
information is reviewed with the GECC Board and the GE Risk Committee at least twice a year. Stress testing
requirements are set forth in GE Capital's approved risk policies. Key policies, such as the Enterprise Risk
Management Policy, the Enterprise Risk Appetite Statement and the Liquidity and Capital Management policies are
approved by the GECC Board and the GE Risk Committee at least annually. GE Capital, in coordination with and
under the oversight of the GE CRO, provides risk reports to the GE Risk Committee. At these meetings, which occur
at least four times a year, GE Capital senior management focuses on the risk strategy and the risk oversight processes
used to manage the elements of risk managed by the ERMC.

Operational risks are inherent in GE Capital’s business activities and are typical of any large enterprise. GE Capital’s
Operational Risk Management program seeks to effectively manage operational risk to reduce the potential for
significant unexpected losses, and to minimize the impact of losses experienced in the normal course of business.

Additional information about our liquidity and how we manage this risk can be found in the Financial Resources and
Liquidity section. Additional information about our credit risk and our portfolio can be found in the Financial
Resources and Liquidity and Critical Accounting Estimates sections. Additional information about our market risk and
how we manage this risk can be found in the Financial Resources and Liquidity section.

Segment Operations

Our five segments are focused on the broad markets they serve: CLL, Consumer, Real Estate, Energy Financial
Services and GECAS. The Chairman allocates resources to, and assesses the performance of, these five businesses. In
addition to providing information on segments in their entirety, we have also provided supplemental information for
the geographic regions within the CLL segment for greater clarity.

GECC corporate items and eliminations include unallocated Treasury and Tax operations; Trinity, a group of
sponsored special purpose entities; certain consolidated liquidating securitization entities; the effects of eliminating
transactions between operating segments; underabsorbed corporate overhead; certain non-allocated amounts
determined by the Chairman; and a variety of sundry items. GECC corporate items and eliminations is not an
operating segment. Rather, it is added to operating segment totals to reconcile to consolidated totals on the financial
statements.

Segment profit is determined based on internal performance measures used by the Chairman to assess the performance
of each business in a given period. In connection with that assessment, the Chairman may exclude matters such as
charges for restructuring; rationalization and other similar expenses; in-process research and development and certain
other acquisition-related charges and balances; technology and product development costs; certain gains and losses
from acquisitions or dispositions; and litigation settlements or other charges, responsibility for which preceded the
current management team.

Segment profit excludes results reported as discontinued operations, earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests
of consolidated subsidiaries and accounting changes. Segment profit, which we sometimes refer to as “net earnings”,
includes interest and income taxes. Prior to January 1, 2011, segment profit excluded the effects of principal pension
plans. Beginning January 1, 2011, GE began allocating service costs related to its principal pension plans and GE no
longer allocates the retiree costs of its postretirement healthcare benefits to its segments. This revised allocation
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methodology better aligns segment operating costs to the active employee costs, which are managed by the segments.
This change does not significantly affect reported segment results.

We have reclassified certain prior-period amounts to conform to the current-period presentation. For additional
information about our segments, see Part I, Item 1. “Business” and Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements in
Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.
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Summary of Operating Segments

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues
CLL(a) $ 18,178 $ 18,447 $ 20,762 
Consumer(a) 16,781 17,204 16,794 
Real Estate 3,712 3,744 4,009 
Energy Financial Services 1,223 1,957 2,117 
GECAS(a) 5,262 5,127 4,594 
      Total segment revenues 45,156 46,479 48,276 
GECC corporate items and eliminations 574 (57) 630 
Total revenues in GECC $ 45,730 $ 46,422 $ 48,906 

Segment profit (loss)
CLL(a) $ 2,720 $ 1,554 $ 963 
Consumer(a) 3,551 2,523 1,282 
Real Estate (928) (1,741) (1,541)
Energy Financial Services 440 367 212 
GECAS(a) 1,150 1,195 1,016 
      Total segment profit 6,933 3,898 1,932 
GECC corporate items and eliminations(b)(c) (384) (740) (607)
Earnings from continuing operations attributable to
GECC 6,549 3,158 1,325 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of
taxes,
     attributable to GECC 17 (867) 288 
Total net earnings attributable to GECC $ 6,566 $ 2,291 $ 1,613 

(a)  During 2010, we transferred the Transportation Financial Services business from GECAS to CLL and the
Consumer business in Italy from Consumer to CLL. Prior-period amounts were reclassified to conform to the
current-period presentation.

(b)  Included restructuring and other charges for 2011 and 2010 of $0.1 billion and $0.2 billion, respectively,
primarily related to CLL business exits.

(c)Included $0.2 billion and $0.1 billion of net losses during 2011 and 2010, respectively, related to our treasury
operations.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.
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CLL

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 18,178 $ 18,447 $ 20,762 

Segment profit $ 2,720 $ 1,554 $ 963 

December 31 (In millions) 2011 2010 

Total assets $ 193,869 $ 202,650 

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues
   Americas $ 10,621 $ 10,556 $ 10,972 
   Europe 3,811 4,140 4,938 
   Asia 2,281 2,202 2,157 
   Other 1,465 1,549 2,695 

Segment profit (loss)
   Americas $ 2,118 $ 1,262 $ 640 
   Europe 402 393 362 
   Asia 234 246 132 
   Other (34) (347) (171)

December 31 (In millions) 2011 2010 

Total assets
   Americas $ 116,034 $ 119,809 
   Europe 46,590 50,026 
   Asia 17,807 18,269 
   Other 13,438 14,546 

CLL 2011 revenues decreased 1% and net earnings increased 75% compared with 2010. Revenues decreased as a
result of organic revenue declines ($1.1 billion), primarily due to lower ENI, partially offset by the weaker U.S. dollar
($0.5 billion) and higher gains and investment income ($0.4 billion). Net earnings increased in 2011, reflecting lower
provisions for losses on financing receivables ($0.6 billion), higher gains and investment income ($0.3 billion), core
increases ($0.2 billion) and lower impairments ($0.1 billion).

CLL 2010 revenues decreased 11% and net earnings increased 61% compared with 2009. Revenues in 2010 and 2009
included $0.2 billion and $0.1 billion, respectively, from acquisitions, and in 2010 were reduced by $1.2 billion from
dispositions, primarily related to the 2009 deconsolidation of PTL. Revenues in 2010 also decreased $1.2 billion
compared with 2009 as a result of organic revenue declines ($1.4 billion), partially offset by the weaker U.S. dollar
($0.2 billion). Net earnings increased by $0.6 billion in 2010, reflecting lower provisions for losses on financing
receivables ($0.6 billion), higher gains ($0.2 billion) and lower selling, general and administrative costs ($0.1 billion).
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These increases were partially offset by the absence of the gain on the PTL sale and remeasurement ($0.3 billion) and
declines in lower-taxed earnings from global operations ($0.1 billion).
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Consumer

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 16,781 $ 17,204 $ 16,794 

Segment profit $ 3,551 $ 2,523 $ 1,282 

December 31 (In millions) 2011 2010 

Total assets $ 139,000 $ 147,327 

Consumer 2011 revenues decreased 2% and net earnings increased 41% compared with 2010. Revenues included $0.3
billion from acquisitions and were reduced by $0.4 billion as a result of dispositions. Revenues in 2011 also decreased
$0.3 billion as a result of organic revenue declines ($1.4 billion), primarily due to lower ENI, and higher impairments
($0.1 billion), partially offset by the gain on the Garanti Bank transaction ($0.7 billion), the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.5
billion) and higher gains ($0.1 billion). The increase in net earnings resulted primarily from lower provisions for
losses on financing receivables ($1.0 billion), the gain on the Garanti Bank transaction ($0.3 billion) and acquisitions
($0.1 billion), partially offset by lower Garanti results ($0.2 billion), and core decreases ($0.2 billion).

Consumer 2010 revenues increased 2% and net earnings increased 97% compared with 2009. Revenues in 2010 were
reduced by $0.3 billion as a result of dispositions. Revenues in 2010 increased $0.7 billion compared with 2009 as a
result of the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.4 billion) and organic revenue growth ($0.4 billion). The increase in net earnings
resulted primarily from core growth ($1.3 billion) and the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.1 billion), partially offset by the
effects of dispositions ($0.1 billion). Core growth included lower provisions for losses on financing receivables across
most platforms ($1.5 billion) and lower selling, general and administrative costs ($0.2 billion), partially offset by
declines in lower-taxed earnings from global operations ($0.7 billion) including the absence of the first quarter 2009
tax benefit ($0.5 billion) from the decision to indefinitely reinvest prior-year earnings outside the U.S. and an increase
in the valuation allowance associated with Japan ($0.2 billion).

Real Estate

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 3,712 $ 3,744 $ 4,009 

Segment profit (loss) $ (928) $ (1,741) $ (1,541)

December 31 (In millions) 2011 2010 

Total assets $ 60,873 $ 72,630 
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Real Estate 2011 revenues decreased 1% and net earnings increased 47% compared with 2010.  Revenues decreased
as organic revenue declines ($0.4 billion), primarily due to lower ENI, were partially offset by increases in net gains
on property sales ($0.2 billion) and the weaker U.S. dollar ($0.1 billion). Real Estate net earnings increased compared
with 2010, as lower impairments ($0.7 billion), a decrease in provisions for losses on financing receivables ($0.4
billion) and increases in net gains on property sales ($0.2 billion) were partially offset by core declines ($0.4 billion).
Depreciation expense on real estate equity investments totaled $0.9 billion and $1.0 billion in 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Real Estate 2010 revenues decreased 7% and net earnings decreased 13% compared with 2009. Revenues for 2010
decreased $0.3 billion compared with 2009 as a result of organic revenue declines and a decrease in property sales,
partially offset by the weaker U.S. dollar. Real Estate net earnings decreased $0.2 billion compared with 2009,
primarily from an increase in impairments related to equity properties and investments ($0.9 billion), partially offset
by a decrease in provisions for losses on financing receivables ($0.4 billion), and core increases ($0.3 billion).
Depreciation expense on real estate equity investments totaled $1.0 billion and $1.2 billion for 2010 and 2009,
respectively.
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Energy Financial Services

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 1,223 $ 1,957 $ 2,117 

Segment profit $ 440 $ 367 $ 212 

December 31 (In millions) 2011 2010 

Total assets $ 18,357 $ 19,549 

Energy Financial Services 2011 revenues decreased 38% and net earnings increased 20% compared with 2010.
Revenues decreased primarily as a result of the deconsolidation of Regency Energy Partners L.P. (Regency) ($0.7
billion) and organic revenue declines ($0.3 billion), primarily from an asset sale in 2010 by an investee. These
decreases were partially offset by higher gains ($0.2 billion). The increase in net earnings resulted primarily from
higher gains ($0.2 billion), partially offset by the deconsolidation of Regency ($0.1 billion) and core decreases,
primarily from an asset sale in 2010 by an investee.

Energy Financial Services 2010 revenues decreased 8% and net earnings increased 73% compared with 2009.
Revenues in 2010 included a $0.1 billion gain related to the Regency transaction and in 2009 were reduced by $0.1
billion of gains from dispositions. Revenues in 2010 decreased compared with 2009 as a result of organic revenue
growth ($0.4 billion), primarily increases in associated company revenues resulting from an asset sale by an investee
($0.2 billion), more than offset by the deconsolidation of Regency. The increase in net earnings resulted primarily
from core increases ($0.1 billion), primarily increases in associated company earnings resulting from an asset sale by
an investee ($0.2 billion) and the gain related to the Regency transaction ($0.1 billion).

GECAS

(In millions) 2011 2010 2009 

Revenues $ 5,262 $ 5,127 $ 4,594 

Segment profit $ 1,150 $ 1,195 $ 1,016 

December 31 (In millions) 2011 2010 

Total assets $ 48,821 $ 49,106 

GECAS 2011 revenues increased 3% and net earnings decreased 4% compared with 2010. Revenues for 2011
increased compared with 2010 as a result of organic revenue growth ($0.1 billion). The decrease in net earnings
resulted primarily from core decreases ($0.1 billion), reflecting the 2010 benefit from resolution of the 2003-2005 IRS
audit, partially offset by lower impairments ($0.1 billion).
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GECAS 2010 revenues increased 12% and net earnings increased 18% compared with 2009. Revenues in 2010
increased compared with 2009 as a result of organic revenue growth ($0.5 billion), including higher investment
income. The increase in net earnings resulted primarily from core increases ($0.2 billion), including the benefit from
resolution of the 2003-2005 IRS audit, lower credit losses and higher investment income, partially offset by higher
impairments related to our operating lease portfolio of commercial aircraft.

(26)
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Corporate Items and Eliminations

GECC Corporate Items and Eliminations include Treasury operation expenses for 2011 and 2010 of $0.2 billion and
$0.1 billion, respectively. These Treasury results were primarily related to derivative activities that reduce or eliminate
interest rate, currency or market risk between financial assets and liabilities.

GECC Corporate Items and Eliminations include $0.3 billion and $0.1 billion of unallocated Tax benefits for 2011
and 2010, respectively, primarily related to the resolution of certain IRS audits.

Certain costs included in GECC Corporate Items and Eliminations are not allocated to the five operating businesses
because they are excluded from the measurement of their segment operating performance for internal purposes.
Unallocated costs included $0.1 billion and $0.2 billion for 2011 and 2010, respectively, primarily related to
restructuring and other charges.

Discontinued Operations

2011 2010 2009 
(In millions)

Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations,
    net of taxes $ 17 $ (867) $ 288 

Discontinued operations primarily comprised BAC, GE Money Japan, WMC, Consumer RV Marine, Consumer
Mexico, Consumer Singapore and Australian Home Lending. Associated results of operations, financial position and
cash flows are separately reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

In 2011, earnings from discontinued operations, net of taxes, included a $0.3 billion gain related to the sale of
Consumer Singapore and earnings from operations at Australian Home Lending of $0.1 billion, partially offset by
incremental reserves for excess interest claims related to our loss-sharing arrangement on the 2008 sale of GE Money
Japan of $0.2 billion and the loss on the sale of Australian Home Lending of $0.1 billion.

In 2010, loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes, primarily reflected incremental reserves for excess interest
claims related to our loss-sharing arrangement on the 2008 sale of GE Money Japan of $1.7 billion and estimated
after-tax losses of $0.2 billion and $0.1 billion on the planned sales of Consumer Mexico and Consumer RV Marine,
respectively, partially offset by an after-tax gain on the sale of BAC of $0.8 billion and earnings from operations at
Consumer Mexico of $0.2 billion and at BAC of $0.1 billion.

In 2009, earnings from discontinued operations, net of taxes, primarily reflected earnings from operations of BAC of
$0.3 billion, Australian Home Lending of $0.1 billion and Consumer Mexico of $0.1 billion, partially offset by
incremental reserves for excess interest claims related to our loss-sharing arrangement on the 2008 sale of GE Money
Japan of $0.2 billion and loss from operations at Consumer RV Marine of $0.1 billion.

For additional information related to discontinued operations, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in
Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

(27)
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Geographic Operations

Our global activities span all geographic regions and primarily encompass leasing of aircraft and provision of
financial services within these regional economies. Thus, when countries or regions experience currency and/or
economic stress, we often have increased exposure to certain risks, but also often have new profit opportunities. New
profit opportunities include, among other things, more opportunities for expansion of our activities through purchases
of companies or assets at reduced prices and lower U.S. debt financing costs.

Revenues are classified according to the region to which products and services are sold. For purposes of this analysis,
the U.S. is presented separately from the remainder of the Americas. We classify certain operations that cannot
meaningfully be associated with specific geographic areas as “Other Global” for this purpose.

Geographic Revenues

(In billions)
2011 2010 2009 

U.S. $ 22.8 $ 22.0 $ 24.7 
Europe 11.5 12.5 14.9 
Pacific Basin 6.5 7.2 6.2 
Americas 3.4 3.5 2.2 
Middle East and Africa 0.6 0.5 0.5 
Other Global 0.9 0.7 0.4 
Total $ 45.7 $ 46.4 $ 48.9 

Global revenues decreased 6% to $22.9 billion in 2011, compared with $24.4 billion and $24.2 billion in 2010 and
2009, respectively, primarily as a result of decreases in Western Europe. Global revenues as a percentage of total
revenues were 50% in 2011, compared with 53% and 50% in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Global revenue increased
by 1% in 2010 from $24.2 billion in 2009, primarily as a result of increases in the Americas and Pacific Basin offset
by decreases in Europe. The effects of currency fluctuations on reported results increased revenues by $1.1 billion in
2011, increased revenues by $0.8 billion in 2010 and decreased revenues by $2.5 billion in 2009.

Total Assets (continuing operations)

December 31 (In billions)
2011 2010 

U.S. $ 233.2 $ 244.3 
Europe 175.4 177.2 
Pacific Basin 54.8 55.0 
Americas 36.2 34.9 
Other Global 52.9 53.9 
Total $ 552.5 $ 565.3 
Our global assets on a continuing basis of $319.3 billion at the end of 2011 were 1% lower than at the end of 2010,
reflecting declines in Europe, primarily due to dispositions and portfolio run-off in various businesses at Consumer
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and lower financing receivables and equipment leased to others at CLL.

Financial results of our global activities reported in U.S. dollars are affected by currency exchange. We use a number
of techniques to manage the effects of currency exchange, including selective borrowings in local currencies and
selective hedging of significant cross-currency transactions. Such principal currencies are the pound sterling, the euro,
the Japanese yen, the Canadian dollar and the Australian dollar.

(28)
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Financial Resources and Liquidity

This discussion of financial resources and liquidity addresses the Statement of Financial Position, Liquidity and
Borrowings, Debt and Derivative Instruments, Guarantees and Covenants, the Statement of Changes in Shareowner’s
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows, Contractual Obligations, and Variable Interest Entities (VIEs).

Overview of Financial Position

Major changes to our shareowner’s equity are discussed in the Statement of Changes in Shareowner’s Equity section. In
addition, other significant changes to balances in our Statement of Financial Position follow.

Statement of Financial Position

Investment securities comprise mainly investment grade debt securities supporting obligations to holders of
guaranteed investment contracts (GICs) in Trinity, and investment securities at our treasury operations and
investments held in our CLL business collateralized by senior secured loans of high-quality, middle-market companies
in a variety of industries. The fair value of investment securities decreased to $17.8 billion at December 31, 2011 from
$18.0 billion at December 31, 2010. Of the amount at December 31, 2011, we held debt securities with an estimated
fair value of $17.0 billion, which included corporate debt securities, asset-backed securities (ABS), residential
mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) and commercial mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) with estimated fair values
of $3.6 billion, $4.8 billion, $1.5 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively. Net unrealized losses on debt securities were
$1.1 billion and $0.9 billion at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively. This amount included
unrealized losses on corporate debt securities, ABS, RMBS and CMBS of $0.5 billion, $0.2 billion, $0.3 billion and
$0.2 billion, respectively, at December 31, 2011, as compared with $0.1 billion, $0.2 billion, $0.4 billion and $0.2
billion, respectively, at December 31, 2010.

We regularly review investment securities for impairment using both qualitative and quantitative criteria. We
presently do not intend to sell the vast majority of our debt securities and believe that it is not more likely than not that
we will be required to sell these securities that are in an unrealized loss position before recovery of our amortized cost.
We believe that the unrealized loss associated with our equity securities will be recovered within the foreseeable
future.

Our RMBS portfolio is collateralized primarily by pools of individual, direct mortgage loans (a majority of which
were originated in 2006 and 2005), not other structured products such as collateralized debt obligations. Substantially
all of our RMBS are in a senior position in the capital structure of the deals and 68% are agency bonds or insured by
Monoline insurers (on which we continue to place reliance). Of our total RMBS portfolio at December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, approximately $0.5 billion and $0.7 billion, respectively, relate to residential subprime credit,
primarily supporting our guaranteed investment contracts. A majority of exposure to residential subprime credit
related to investment securities backed by mortgage loans originated in 2006 and 2005. Substantially all of the
subprime RMBS were investment grade at the time of purchase and approximately 70% have been subsequently
downgraded to below investment grade.

Our CMBS portfolio is collateralized by both diversified pools of mortgages that were originated for securitization
(conduit CMBS) and pools of large loans backed by high quality properties (large loan CMBS), a majority of which
were originated in 2007 and 2006. Substantially all of the securities in our CMBS portfolio have investment grade
credit ratings and the vast majority of the securities are in a senior position in the capital structure.

Our ABS portfolio is collateralized by senior secured loans of high-quality, middle-market companies in a variety of
industries, as well as a variety of diversified pools of assets such as student loans and credit cards. The vast majority
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of our ABS are in a senior position in the capital structure of the deals. In addition, substantially all of the securities
that are below investment grade are in an unrealized gain position.

If there has been an adverse change in cash flows for RMBS, management considers credit enhancements such as
Monoline insurance (which are features of a specific security). In evaluating the overall creditworthiness of the
Monoline insurer (Monoline), we use an analysis that is similar to the approach we use for corporate bonds, including
an evaluation of the sufficiency of the Monoline’s cash reserves and capital, ratings activity, whether the Monoline is
in default or default appears imminent, and the potential for intervention by an insurance or other regulator.

(29)
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Monolines provide credit enhancement for certain of our investment securities, primarily RMBS and municipal
securities. The credit enhancement is a feature of each specific security that guarantees the payment of all contractual
cash flows, and is not purchased separately by GE. The Monoline industry continues to experience financial stress
from increasing delinquencies and defaults on the individual loans underlying insured securities. We continue to rely
on Monolines with adequate capital and claims paying resources. We have reduced our reliance on Monolines that do
not have adequate capital or have experienced regulator intervention. At December 31, 2011, our investment securities
insured by Monolines on which we continue to place reliance were $1.2 billion, including $0.3 billion of our $0.5
billion investment in subprime RMBS. At December 31, 2011, the unrealized loss associated with securities subject to
Monoline credit enhancement, for which there is an expected credit loss, was $0.3 billion.

Total pre-tax, other-than-temporary impairment losses during 2011 were $0.5 billion, of which $0.4 billion was
recognized in earnings and primarily relates to credit losses on non-U.S. government and non-U.S. corporate securities
and other-than-temporary losses on equity securities and $0.1 billion primarily relates to non-credit related losses on
RMBS and is included within accumulated other comprehensive income.

Total pre-tax, other-than-temporary impairment losses during 2010 were $0.4 billion, of which $0.2 billion was
recognized in earnings and primarily relates to credit losses on RMBS, non-U.S. government securities, non-U.S.
corporate securities and other-than-temporary losses on equity securities, and $0.2 billion primarily relates to
non-credit related losses on RMBS and is included within accumulated other comprehensive income.

Our qualitative review attempts to identify issuers’ securities that are “at-risk” of other-than-temporary impairment, that
is, for securities that we do not intend to sell and it is not more likely than not that we will be required to sell before
recovery of our amortized cost, whether there is a possibility of credit loss that would result in an
other-than-temporary impairment recognition in the following 12 months. Securities we have identified as “at-risk”
primarily relate to investments in RMBS and non-U.S. corporate debt securities across a broad range of industries.
The amount of associated unrealized loss on these securities at December 31, 2011, is $0.6 billion. Unrealized losses
are not indicative of the amount of credit loss that would be recognized as credit losses are determined based on
adverse changes in expected cash flows rather than fair value. For further information relating to how credit losses are
calculated, see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.  Uncertainty in the capital markets may cause increased levels of
other-than-temporary impairments.

At December 31, 2011, unrealized losses on investment securities totaled $1.3 billion, including $1.1 billion aged 12
months or longer, compared with unrealized losses of $1.2 billion, including $1.0 billion aged 12 months or longer at
December 31, 2010. Of the amount aged 12 months or longer at December 31, 2011, more than 74% are debt
securities that were considered to be investment grade by the major rating agencies. In addition, of the amount aged 12
months or longer, $0.6 billion and $0.3 billion related to structured securities (mortgage-backed, asset-backed and
securitization retained interests) and corporate debt securities, respectively. With respect to our investment securities
that are in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2011, the majority relate to debt securities held to support
obligations to holders of GICs. We presently do not intend to sell the vast majority of our debt securities and believe
that it is not more likely than not that we will be required to sell these securities that are in an unrealized loss position
before recovery of our amortized cost. For additional information, see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Fair Value Measurements. For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, fair value is
the price we would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction with a market
participant at the measurement date. In the absence of active markets for the identical assets or liabilities, such
measurements involve developing assumptions based on market observable data and, in the absence of such data,
internal information that is consistent with what market participants would use in a hypothetical transaction that
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occurs at the measurement date. Additional information about our application of this guidance is provided in Notes 1
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this
Form 10-K Report. At December 31, 2011, the aggregate amount of investments that are measured at fair value
through earnings totaled $5.9 billion and consisted primarily of various assets held for sale in the ordinary course of
business, as well as equity investments.

(30)
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Financing receivables is our largest category of assets and represents one of our primary sources of revenues. Our
portfolio of financing receivables is diverse and not directly comparable to major U.S. banks. A discussion of the
quality of certain elements of the financing receivables portfolio follows.

Our consumer portfolio is largely non-U.S. and primarily comprises mortgage, sales finance, auto and personal loans
in various European and Asian countries. Our U.S. consumer financing receivables comprise 16% of our total
portfolio. Of those, approximately 65% relate primarily to credit cards, which are often subject to profit and loss
sharing arrangements with the retailer (the results of which are reflected in revenues), and have a smaller average
balance and lower loss severity as compared to bank cards. The remaining 35% are sales finance receivables, which
provide electronics, recreation, medical and home improvement financing to customers. In 2007, we exited the U.S.
mortgage business and we have no U.S. auto or student loans.

Our commercial portfolio primarily comprises senior, secured positions with comparatively low loss history. The
secured receivables in this portfolio are collateralized by a variety of asset classes, which for our CLL business
primarily include: industrial-related facilities and equipment, vehicles, corporate aircraft, and equipment used in many
industries, including the construction, manufacturing, transportation, media, communications, entertainment, and
healthcare industries. The portfolios in our Real Estate, GECAS and Energy Financial Services businesses are
collateralized by commercial real estate, commercial aircraft and operating assets in the global energy industry,
respectively. We are in a secured position for substantially all of our commercial portfolio.

Losses on financing receivables are recognized when they are incurred, which requires us to make our best estimate of
probable losses inherent in the portfolio. The method for calculating the best estimate of losses depends on the size,
type and risk characteristics of the related financing receivable. Such an estimate requires consideration of historical
loss experience, adjusted for current conditions, and judgments about the probable effects of relevant observable data,
including present economic conditions such as delinquency rates, financial health of specific customers and market
sectors, collateral values (including housing price indices as applicable), and the present and expected future levels of
interest rates. The underlying assumptions, estimates and assessments we use to provide for losses are updated
periodically to reflect our view of current conditions. Changes in such estimates can significantly affect the allowance
and provision for losses. It is possible to experience credit losses that are different from our current estimates.

Our risk management process includes standards and policies for reviewing major risk exposures and concentrations,
and evaluates relevant data either for individual loans or financing leases, or on a portfolio basis, as appropriate.

Loans acquired in a business acquisition are recorded at fair value, which incorporates our estimate at the acquisition
date of the credit losses over the remaining life of the portfolio. As a result, the allowance for losses is not carried over
at acquisition. This may have the effect of causing lower reserve coverage ratios for those portfolios.

For purposes of the discussion that follows, “delinquent” receivables are those that are 30 days or more past due based
on their contractual terms; and “nonearning” receivables are those that are 90 days or more past due (or for which
collection is otherwise doubtful). Nonearning receivables exclude loans purchased at a discount (unless they have
deteriorated post acquisition). Under FASB ASC 310, Receivables, these loans are initially recorded at fair value and
accrete interest income over the estimated life of the loan based on reasonably estimable cash flows even if the
underlying loans are contractually delinquent at acquisition. In addition, nonearning receivables exclude loans that are
paying on a cash accounting basis but classified as nonaccrual and impaired. “Nonaccrual” financing receivables include
all nonearning receivables and are those on which we have stopped accruing interest. We stop accruing interest at the
earlier of the time at which collection of an account becomes doubtful or the account becomes 90 days past due.
Recently restructured financing receivables are not considered delinquent when payments are brought current
according to the restructured terms, but may remain classified as nonaccrual until there has been a period of
satisfactory payment performance by the borrower and future payments are reasonably assured of collection.
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Further information on the determination of the allowance for losses on financing receivables and the credit quality
and categorization of our financing receivables is provided in the Critical Accounting Estimates section of this Item
and Notes 1, 4 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements in part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.  

(31)
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Financing receivables at Nonearning receivables at Allowance for losses at
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
(In millions) 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Commercial
CLL
Americas(a) $ 80,505 $ 88,558 $ 1,862 $ 2,573 $ 889 $ 1,288 
Europe 36,899 37,498 1,167 1,241 400 429 
Asia 11,635 11,943 269 406 157 222 
Other(a) 436 664 11 6 4 6 
Total CLL 129,475 138,663 3,309 4,226 1,450 1,945 

Energy
  Financial
     Services 5,912 7,011 22 62 26 22 

GECAS 11,901 12,615 55 – 17 20 

Other 1,282 1,788 65 102 37 58 
Total
  Commercial 148,570 160,077 3,451 4,390 1,530 2,045 

Real Estate
Debt(b) 24,501 30,249 541 961 949 1,292 
Business
  Properties(c) 8,248 9,962 249 386 140 196 
Total Real Estate 32,749 40,211 790 1,347 1,089 1,488 

Consumer
Non-U.S.
  residential
    mortgages(d) 36,170 40,011 3,349 3,738 706 803 
Non-U.S.
    installment
      and revolving
        credit 18,544 20,132 263 289 717 937 
U.S. installment
  and revolving
    credit 46,689 43,974 990 1,201 2,008 2,333 
Non-U.S. auto 5,691 7,558 43 46 101 168 
Other 7,244 8,304 419 478 199 259 
Total Consumer 114,338 119,979 5,064 5,752 3,731 4,500 
Total $ 295,657 $ 320,267 $ 9,305 $ 11,489 $ 6,350 $ 8,033 

(a)  During 2011, we transferred our Railcar lending and leasing portfolio from CLL Other to CLL Americas.
Prior-period amounts were reclassified to conform to the current-period presentation.
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(b)  Financing receivables included $0.1 billion and $0.2 billion of construction loans at December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, respectively.

(c)  Our Business Properties portfolio is underwritten primarily by the credit quality of the borrower and secured by
tenant and owner-occupied commercial properties.

(d)  At December 31, 2011, net of credit insurance, approximately 25% of our secured Consumer non-U.S. residential
mortgage portfolio comprised loans with introductory, below market rates that are scheduled to adjust at future
dates; with high loan-to-value ratios at inception (greater than 90%); whose terms permitted interest-only
payments; or whose terms resulted in negative amortization. At origination, we underwrite loans with an
adjustable rate to the reset value. Of these loans, 79% are in our U.K. and France portfolios, which comprise
mainly loans with interest-only payments and introductory below market rates, have a delinquency rate of 15%,
have a loan-to-value ratio at origination of 76% and have re-indexed loan-to-value ratios of 84% and 56%,
respectively. At December 31, 2011, 6% (based on dollar values) of these loans in our U.K. and France portfolios
have been restructured.

(32)
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The portfolio of financing receivables, before allowance for losses, was $295.7 billion at December 31, 2011, and
$320.3 billion at December 31, 2010. Financing receivables, before allowance for losses, decreased $24.6 billion from
December 31, 2010, primarily as a result of collections exceeding originations ($14.9 billion) (which includes sales),
write-offs ($7.2 billion) and the stronger U.S. dollar ($1.5 billion), partially offset by acquisitions ($3.6 billion). The
$24.6 billion decline in financing receivables excludes financing receivables of $11.5 billion, previously reported in
Discontinued operations or Assets of businesses held for sale (primarily non-U.S. residential mortgages and non-U.S.
installment and revolving credit) associated with 2011 business and portfolio dispositions. See Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K
Report.

Related nonearning receivables totaled $9.3 billion (3.1% of outstanding receivables) at December 31, 2011,
compared with $11.5 billion (3.6% of outstanding receivables) at December 31, 2010. Nonearning receivables
decreased from December 31, 2010, primarily due to write-offs and discounted payoffs in Real Estate, improved
performance in Commercial and improvements in our entry rates in Consumer.

The allowance for losses at December 31, 2011 totaled $6.4 billion compared with $8.0 billion at December 31, 2010,
representing our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the portfolio. Allowance for losses decreased $1.7 billion
from December 31, 2010, primarily because provisions were lower than write-offs, net of recoveries by $1.5 billion,
which is attributable to a reduction in the overall financing receivables balance and an improvement in the overall
credit environment. The allowance for losses as a percent of total financing receivables decreased from 2.5% at
December 31, 2010 to 2.1% at December 31, 2011 primarily due to a decrease in the allowance for losses as discussed
above, partially offset by a decline in the overall financing receivables balance as collections exceeded originations.
Further information surrounding the allowance for losses related to each of our portfolios is detailed below.

(33)
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The following table provides information surrounding selected ratios related to nonearning financing receivables and
the allowance for losses.

Nonearning financing
receivables Allowance for losses Allowance for losses

as a percent of as a percent of as a percent of

financing receivables at
nonearning financing

receivables at total financing receivables at
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
December

31,
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

Commercial
CLL
Americas 2.3 % 2.9 % 47.7 % 50.1 % 1.1 % 1.5 %
Europe 3.2 3.3 34.3 34.6 1.1 1.1 
Asia 2.3 3.4 58.4 54.7 1.3 1.9 
Other 2.5 0.9 36.4 100.0 0.9 0.9 
Total CLL 2.6 3.0 43.8 46.0 1.1 1.4 

Energy Financial
Services

0.4 0.9 118.2 35.5 0.4 0.3 

GECAS 0.5 – 30.9 – 0.1 0.2 

Other 5.1 5.7 56.9 56.9 2.9 3.2 

Total Commercial 2.3 2.7 44.3 46.6 1.0 1.3 

Real Estate
Debt 2.2 3.2 175.4 134.4 3.9 4.3 
Business
Properties

3.0 3.9 56.2 50.8 1.7 2.0 

Total Real Estate 2.4 3.3 137.8 110.5 3.3 3.7 

Consumer
Non-U.S.
  residential
mortgages

9.3 9.3 21.1 21.5 2.0 2.0 

Non-U.S.
  installment and
    revolving credit 1.4 1.4 272.6 324.2 3.9 4.7 
U.S. installment
 and revolving
credit

2.1 2.7 202.8 194.3 4.3 5.3 

Non-U.S. auto 0.8 0.6 234.9 365.2 1.8 2.2 
Other 5.8 5.8 47.5 54.2 2.7 3.1 
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Total Consumer 4.4 4.8 73.7 78.2 3.3 3.8 

Total 3.1 3.6 68.2 69.9 2.1 2.5 

Included below is a discussion of financing receivables, allowance for losses, nonearning receivables and related
metrics for each of our significant portfolios.

CLL − Americas. Nonearning receivables of $1.9 billion represented 20.0% of total nonearning receivables at
December 31, 2011. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables decreased from 50.1% at
December 31, 2010, to 47.7% at December 31, 2011, reflecting an overall improvement in the credit quality of the
remaining portfolio and an overall decrease in nonearning receivables. The ratio of nonearning receivables as a
percent of financing receivables decreased from 2.9% at December 31, 2010, to 2.3% at December 31, 2011, primarily
due to reduced nonearning exposures in our healthcare, media, franchise and inventory financing portfolios, which
more than offset deterioration in our corporate aircraft portfolio. Collateral supporting these nonearning financing
receivables primarily includes assets in the restaurant and hospitality, trucking and industrial equipment industries and
corporate aircraft and, for our leveraged finance business, equity of the underlying businesses.
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CLL – Europe. Nonearning receivables of $1.2 billion represented 12.5% of total nonearning receivables at December
31, 2011. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables decreased from 34.6% at December
31, 2010, to 34.3% at December 31, 2011, primarily due to an increase in nonearning receivables in our senior secured
lending portfolio, partially offset by a reduction in nonearning receivables related to account restructuring in our
asset-backed lending portfolio and improved delinquency in our equipment finance portfolio. The majority of
nonearning receivables are attributable to the Interbanca S.p.A. portfolio, which was acquired in 2009. The loans
acquired with Interbanca S.p.A. were recorded at fair value, which incorporates an estimate at the acquisition date of
credit losses over their remaining life. Accordingly, these loans generally have a lower ratio of allowance for losses as
a percent of nonearning receivables compared to the remaining portfolio. Excluding the nonearning loans attributable
to the 2009 acquisition of Interbanca S.p.A., the ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables
decreased from 65.7% at December 31, 2010, to 55.9% at December 31, 2011, for the reasons described above. The
ratio of nonearning receivables as a percent of financing receivables decreased from 3.3% at December 31, 2010, to
3.2% at December 31, 2011, as a result of a decrease in nonearning receivables across our equipment finance and
asset-backed lending portfolios, partially offset by the increase in nonearning receivables in our senior secured lending
portfolio, for the reasons described above. Collateral supporting these secured nonearning financing receivables are
primarily equity of the underlying businesses for our senior secured lending and Interbanca S.p.A. businesses, and
equipment for our equipment finance portfolio.

CLL – Asia. Nonearning receivables of $0.3 billion represented 2.9% of total nonearning receivables at December 31,
2011. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables increased from 54.7% at December 31,
2010, to 58.4% at December 31, 2011, primarily as a result of collections and write-offs of nonearning receivables in
our asset-based financing businesses in Japan, Australia and New Zealand. The ratio of nonearning receivables as a
percent of financing receivables decreased from 3.4% at December 31, 2010, to 2.3% at December 31, 2011, primarily
due to the decline in nonearning receivables related to our asset-based financing businesses in Japan, Australia and
New Zealand, partially offset by a lower financing receivables balance. Collateral supporting these nonearning
financing receivables is primarily commercial real estate, manufacturing equipment, corporate aircraft, and assets in
the auto industry.

Real Estate – Debt. Nonearning receivables of $0.5 billion represented 5.8% of total nonearning receivables at
December 31, 2011. The decrease in nonearning receivables from December 31, 2010, was driven primarily by the
resolution of U.S. multi-family and office nonearning loans, as well as European hotel and retail loans, through
restructurings, payoffs and foreclosures, partially offset by new European multi-family delinquencies. The ratio of
allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables increased from 134.4% to 175.4% reflecting resolution of
nonearning loans as mentioned above. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of total financing receivables
decreased from 4.3% at December 31, 2010 to 3.9% at December 31, 2011, driven primarily by write-offs related to
settlements and payoffs from impaired loan borrowers and improvement in collateral values.

The Real Estate financing receivables portfolio is collateralized by income-producing or owner-occupied commercial
properties across a variety of asset classes and markets. At December 31, 2011, total Real Estate financing receivables
of $32.7 billion were primarily collateralized by owner-occupied properties ($8.2 billion), office buildings ($7.2
billion), apartment buildings ($4.5 billion) and hotel properties ($3.8 billion). In 2011, commercial real estate markets
showed signs of improved stability and liquidity in certain markets; however, the pace of improvement varies
significantly by asset class and market and the long term outlook remains uncertain. We have and continue to maintain
an intense focus on operations and risk management. Loan loss reserves related to our Real Estate–Debt financing
receivables are particularly sensitive to declines in underlying property values. Assuming global property values
decline an incremental 1% or 5%, and that decline occurs evenly across geographies and asset classes, we estimate
incremental loan loss reserves would be required of less than $0.1 billion and approximately $0.2 billion, respectively.
Estimating the impact of global property values on loss performance across our portfolio depends on a number of
factors, including macroeconomic conditions, property level operating performance, local market dynamics and
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individual borrower behavior. As a result, any sensitivity analyses or attempts to forecast potential losses carry a high
degree of imprecision and are subject to change. At December 31, 2011, we had 119 foreclosed commercial real estate
properties totaling $0.7 billion.

(35)
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Consumer − Non-U.S. residential mortgages. Nonearning receivables of $3.3 billion represented 36.0% of total
nonearning receivables at December 31, 2011. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables
decreased from 21.5% at December 31, 2010, to 21.1% at December 31, 2011. In the year ended 2011, our nonearning
receivables decreased primarily due to improving portfolio quality in the U.K. Our non-U.S. mortgage portfolio has a
loan-to-value ratio of approximately 75% at origination and the vast majority are first lien positions. Our U.K. and
France portfolios, which comprise a majority of our total mortgage portfolio, have reindexed loan-to-value ratios of
84% and 56%, respectively. About 4% of these loans are without mortgage insurance and have a reindexed
loan-to-value ratio equal to or greater than 100%. Loan-to-value information is updated on a quarterly basis for a
majority of our loans and considers economic factors such as the housing price index. At December 31, 2011, we had
in repossession stock 461 houses in the U.K., which had a value of approximately $0.1 billion. The ratio of
nonearning receivables as a percent of financing receivables remained constant at 9.3% at December 31, 2011.

Consumer − Non-U.S. installment and revolving credit. Nonearning receivables of $0.3 billion represented 2.8% of
total nonearning receivables at December 31, 2011. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning
receivables decreased from 324.2% at December 31, 2010 to 272.6% at December 31, 2011, reflecting the effects of
loan repayments and reduced originations primarily in our European platforms.

Consumer − U.S. installment and revolving credit. Nonearning receivables of $1.0 billion represented 10.6% of total
nonearning receivables at December 31, 2011. The ratio of allowance for losses as a percent of nonearning receivables
increased from 194.3% at December 31, 2010, to 202.8% at December 31, 2011, as a result of lower entry rates and
improved collections resulting in reductions in our nonearning receivables balance. The ratio of nonearning
receivables as a percentage of financing receivables decreased from 2.7% at December 31, 2010 to 2.1% at December
31, 2011, primarily due to lower delinquencies reflecting an improvement in the overall credit environment.

Nonaccrual Financing Receivables

The following table provides details related to our nonaccrual and nonearning financing receivables. Nonaccrual
financing receivables include all nonearning receivables and are those on which we have stopped accruing interest.
We stop accruing interest at the earlier of the time at which collection becomes doubtful or the account becomes 90
days past due. Substantially all of the differences between nonearning and nonaccrual financing receivables relate to
loans which are classified as nonaccrual financing receivables but are paying on a cash accounting basis, and therefore
excluded from nonearning receivables. Of our $17.0 billion nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2011, $7.5 billion are
currently paying in accordance with their contractual terms.

Nonaccrual Nonearning
financing financing

December 31, 2011 (In millions) receivables receivables

Commercial
CLL $ 4,512 $ 3,309 
Energy Financial Services 22 22 
GECAS 69 55 
Other 115 65 
Total Commercial 4,718 3,451 

Real Estate 6,949 790 

Consumer 5,316 5,064 
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Total $ 16,983 $ 9,305 

(36)
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Impaired Loans

“Impaired” loans in the table below are defined as larger balance or restructured loans for which it is probable that the
lender will be unable to collect all amounts due according to original contractual terms of the loan agreement. The
vast majority of our Consumer and a portion of our CLL nonaccrual receivables are excluded from this definition, as
they represent smaller balance homogeneous loans that we evaluate collectively by portfolio for impairment.

Impaired loans include nonearning receivables on larger balance or restructured loans, loans that are currently paying
interest under the cash basis (but are excluded from the nonearning category), and loans paying currently but which
have been previously restructured.

Specific reserves are recorded for individually impaired loans to the extent we have determined that it is probable that
we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to original contractual terms of the loan agreement. Certain
loans classified as impaired may not require a reserve because we believe that we will ultimately collect the unpaid
balance (through collection or collateral repossession).

Further information pertaining to loans classified as impaired and specific reserves is included in the table below.

At

(In millions)
December

31,
December

31,
2011 2010 

Loans requiring allowance for losses
   Commercial(a) $ 2,357 $ 2,733 
   Real Estate 4,957 6,812 
   Consumer 3,036 2,446 
Total loans requiring allowance for losses 10,350 11,991 

Loans expected to be fully recoverable
   Commercial(a) 3,305 3,087 
   Real Estate 3,790 3,005 
   Consumer 69 102 
Total loans expected to be fully recoverable 7,164 6,194 
Total impaired loans $ 17,514 $ 18,185 

Allowance for losses (specific reserves)
   Commercial(a) $ 812 $ 1,031 
   Real Estate 822 1,150 
   Consumer 717 555 
Total allowance for losses (specific reserves) $ 2,351 $ 2,736 

Average investment during the period $ 18,384 $ 15,538 
Interest income earned while impaired(b) 733 391 

(a) Includes CLL, Energy Financial Services, GECAS and Other.
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(b) Recognized principally on a cash basis.

We regularly review our Real Estate loans for impairment using both quantitative and qualitative factors, such as debt
service coverage and loan-to-value ratios. We classify Real Estate loans as impaired when the most recent valuation
reflects a projected loan-to-value ratio at maturity in excess of 100%, even if the loan is currently paying in
accordance with contractual terms.

Of our $8.7 billion impaired loans at Real Estate at December 31, 2011, $7.9 billion are currently paying in
accordance with the contractual terms of the loan and are typically loans where the borrower has adequate debt service
coverage to meet contractual interest obligations. Impaired loans at CLL primarily represent senior secured lending
positions.

(37)
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Our impaired loan balance at December 31, 2011 and 2010, classified by the method used to measure impairment was
as follows.

At
December

31,
December

31,
(In millions) 2011 2010 

Method used to measure impairment
Discounted cash flow $ 8,981 $ 7,644 
Collateral value 8,533 10,541 
Total $ 17,514 $ 18,185 

See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of
this Form 10-K Report for further information on collateral dependent loans and our valuation process.

Our loss mitigation strategy is intended to minimize economic loss and, at times, can result in rate reductions,
principal forgiveness, extensions, forbearance or other actions, which may cause the related loan to be classified as a
troubled debt restructuring (TDR), and also as impaired. Changes to Real Estate’s loans primarily include maturity
extensions, principal payment acceleration, changes to collateral terms and cash sweeps, which are in addition to, or
sometimes in lieu of, fees and rate increases. The determination of whether these changes to the terms and conditions
of our commercial loans meet the TDR criteria includes our consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances. At
December 31, 2011, TDRs included in impaired loans were $13.7 billion, primarily relating to Real Estate ($7.0
billion), CLL ($3.6 billion) and Consumer ($2.9 billion).

Real Estate TDRs increased from $4.9 billion at December 31, 2010 to $7.0 billion at December 31, 2011, primarily
driven by loans scheduled to mature during 2011, some of which were modified during 2011 and classified as TDRs
upon modification. For borrowers with demonstrated operating capabilities, we work to restructure loans when the
cash flow and projected value of the underlying collateral support repayment over the modified term. We deem loan
modifications to be TDRs when we have granted a concession to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty and we
do not receive adequate compensation in the form of an effective interest rate that is at current market rates of interest
given the risk characteristics of the loan or other consideration that compensates us for the value of the concession.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, we modified $4.0 billion of loans classified as TDRs, substantially all in our
Debt portfolio. Changes to these loans primarily included maturity extensions, principal payment acceleration,
changes to collateral or covenant terms and cash sweeps, which are in addition to, or sometimes in lieu of, fees and
rate increases. The limited liquidity and higher return requirements in the real estate market for loans with higher
loan-to-value (LTV) ratios has typically resulted in the conclusion that the modified terms are not at current market
rates of interest, even if the modified loans are expected to be fully recoverable. We received the same or additional
compensation in the form of rate increases and fees for the majority of these TDRs. Of our modifications classified as
TDRs in the last twelve months, $0.1 billion have subsequently experienced a payment default.

The substantial majority of the Real Estate TDRs have reserves determined based upon collateral value. Our specific
reserves on Real Estate TDRs were $0.6 billion at December 31, 2011 and $0.4 billion at December 31, 2010, and
were 8.4% and 8.9%, respectively, of Real Estate TDRs. Although we experienced an increase in TDRs over this
period, in many situations these loans did not require a specific reserve as collateral value adequately covered our
recorded investment in the loan. While these modified loans had adequate collateral coverage, we were still required
to complete our TDR classification evaluation on each of the modifications without regard to collateral adequacy.
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We utilize certain short-term (three months or less) loan modification programs for borrowers experiencing temporary
financial difficulties in our Consumer loan portfolio. These loan modification programs are primarily concentrated in
our non-U.S. residential mortgage and non-U.S. installment and revolving portfolios. We sold our U.S. residential
mortgage business in 2007 and as such, do not participate in the U.S. government-sponsored mortgage modification
programs. For the year ended December 31, 2011, we provided short-term modifications of approximately $1.0 billion
of consumer loans for borrowers experiencing financial difficulties, substantially all in our non-U.S. residential
mortgage, credit card and personal loan portfolios, which are not classified as TDRs. For these modified loans, we
provided insignificant interest rate reductions and payment deferrals, which were not part of the terms of the original
contract. We expect borrowers whose loans have been modified under these short-term programs to continue to be
able to meet their contractual obligations upon the conclusion of the short-term modification. In addition, we have
modified $2.0 billion of Consumer loans for the year ended December 31, 2011, which are classified as TDRs. Further
information on Consumer impaired loans is provided in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II,
Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

(38)
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Delinquencies

For additional information on delinquency rates at each of our major portfolios, see Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements in Part II. Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

GECS Selected European Exposures

At December 31, 2011, we had $92 billion in financing receivables to consumer and commercial customers in Europe.
The GECS financing receivables portfolio in Europe is well diversified across European geographies and customers.
Approximately 85% of the portfolio is secured by collateral and represents approximately 500,000 commercial
customers. Several European countries, including Spain, Portugal, Ireland, Italy, Greece and Hungary (“focus
countries”), have been subject to credit deterioration due to weaknesses in their economic and fiscal situations. The
carrying value of GECS funded exposures in these focus countries and in the rest of Europe comprised the following
at December 31, 2011.

December 31, 2011 Rest of Total
(In millions) Spain Portugal Ireland Italy Greece Hungary Europe Europe

Financing
receivables,
    net of allowance
      for loan
losses(a)(b)

$ 2,316 $ 601 $ 881 $ 7,231 $ 88 $ 3,060 $ 78,208 $ 92,385 

Investments(c)(d) 2 – 24 611 36 152 2,650 3,475 

Derivatives,
    net of
collateral(c)(e)

47 – – 86 – – 177 310 

Total funded
exposures(f)

2,365 601 905 7,928 124 3,212 81,035 96,170 

Unfunded
commitments

– – – 311 – 557 8,168 9,036 

(a)  Financing receivable amounts are classified based on the location or nature of the related obligor.

(b)  Substantially all relates to non-sovereign obligors. Includes residential mortgage loans of approximately $35.4
billion before consideration of purchased credit protection. We have third-party mortgage insurance for
approximately 28% of these residential mortgage loans, substantially all of which were originated in the U.K.,
Poland and France.

(c)  Investments and derivatives are classified based on the location of the parent of the obligor or issuer.

(d)  Includes $1.1 billion related to financial institutions, $0.5 billion related to non-financial institutions and $1.9
billion related to sovereign issuers. Sovereign issuances totaled $0.1 billion, $0.1 billion and $0.1 billion related
to Italy, Hungary and Greece, respectively. We held no investments issued by sovereign entities in the other focus
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countries.

(e)  Net of cash collateral, entire amount is non-sovereign.

(f)  Excludes other GECS funded assets in European countries, which comprise cash and equivalents ($41.6 billion),
ELTO ($11.9 billion), real estate held for investment ($7.3 billion), and cost and equity method investments ($2.5
billion). GECS cash and equivalents in European countries include cash on short-term placement with highly rated
global financial institutions based in Europe, sovereign central banks and agencies or supra national entities ($24.2
billion) and the remaining $17.4 billion of cash and equivalents is placed with highly rated European financial
institutions on a short-term basis and is secured by U.S. Treasury securities ($9.6 billion) and sovereign bonds of
non-focus countries ($7.8 billion), where the value of our collateral exceeds the amount of our cash exposure.

We manage counterparty exposure, including credit risk, on an individual counterparty basis. We place defined risk
limits around each obligor and review our risk exposure on the basis of both the primary and parent obligor, as well as
the issuer of securities held as collateral. These limits are adjusted on an ongoing basis based on our continuing
assessment of the credit risk of the obligor or issuer. In setting our counterparty risk limits, we focus on high quality
credits and diversification through spread of risk in an effort to actively manage our overall exposure. We actively
monitor each exposure against these limits and take appropriate action when we believe that risk limits have been
exceeded or there are excess risk concentrations. Our collateral position and ability to work out problem accounts has
historically mitigated our actual loss experience. Delinquency experience has been improving in our European
commercial and consumer platforms in the aggregate, and we actively monitor and take action to reduce exposures
where appropriate. Uncertainties surrounding European markets could have an impact on the judgments and estimates
used in determining the carrying value of these assets.

Other receivables totaled $12.9 billion at December 31, 2011 and $12.3 billion at December 31, 2010, and consisted
primarily of amounts due from GE (primarily related to material procurement programs of $3.5 billion and $2.7
billion at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectively), nonfinancing customer receivables, amounts due
under operating leases, tax receivables and various sundry items.

(39)
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Property, plant and equipment totaled $51.4 billion at December 31, 2011, down $2.3 billion from 2010, primarily
reflecting a reduction in equipment leased to others principally as a result of the disposal of our CLL marine container
leasing business. Property, plant and equipment consisted primarily of equipment provided to third parties on
operating leases. Details by category of investment are presented in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in
Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report. Additions to property, plant
and equipment were $9.9 billion and $7.7 billion during 2011 and 2010, respectively, primarily reflecting additions of
commercial aircraft at GECAS.

Goodwill and other intangible assets totaled $27.2 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively, at December 31, 2011.
Goodwill decreased $0.3 billion from 2010, primarily from dispositions ($0.2 billion) and the stronger U.S. dollar
($0.1 billion). Other intangible assets decreased $0.3 billion from 2010, primarily from dispositions and amortization
expense. See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Other assets comprise mainly real estate equity properties and investments, equity and cost method investments,
derivative instruments and assets held for sale, and totaled $75.8 billion at December 31, 2011, a decrease of $1.2
billion, primarily related to a decrease in real estate equity investments ($3.3 billion) and the sale of a substantial
portion of our equity investment in Garanti Bank ($3.0 billion), partially offset by increases in the fair value of
derivative instruments ($4.5 billion) and our investment in PTL ($1.2 billion). During 2011, we recognized
other-than-temporary impairments of cost and equity method investments, excluding those related to real estate, of
$0.1 billion.

Included in other assets are Real Estate equity investments of $23.9 billion and $27.2 billion at December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, respectively. Our portfolio is diversified, both geographically and by asset type. We review
the estimated values of our commercial real estate investments at least annually, or more frequently as conditions
warrant. Based on the most recent valuation estimates available, the carrying value of our Real Estate investments
exceeded their estimated value by about $2.6 billion. Commercial real estate valuations in 2011 showed signs of
improved stability and liquidity in certain markets, primarily in the U.S.; however, the pace of improvement varies
significantly by asset class and market. Accordingly, there continues to be risk and uncertainty surrounding
commercial real estate values. Declines in estimated value of real estate below carrying amount result in impairment
losses when the aggregate undiscounted cash flow estimates used in the estimated value measurement are below the
carrying amount. As such, estimated losses in the portfolio will not necessarily result in recognized impairment losses.
During 2011, Real Estate recognized pre-tax impairments of $1.2 billion in its real estate held for investment, which
were driven by declining cash flow projections for properties in certain markets, most notably Japan and Spain, as
well as properties we have identified for short-term disposition based upon our updated outlook of local market
conditions. Real Estate investments with undiscounted cash flows in excess of carrying value of 0% to 5% at
December 31, 2011 had a carrying value of $1.6 billion and an associated estimated unrealized loss of approximately
$0.2 billion. Continued deterioration in economic conditions or prolonged market illiquidity may result in further
impairments being recognized.

Liquidity and Borrowings

We maintain a strong focus on liquidity. We manage our liquidity to help ensure access to sufficient funding to meet
our business needs and financial obligations throughout business cycles.

Our liquidity and borrowing plans for GE and GECS are established within the context of our annual financial and
strategic planning processes. At GE, our liquidity and funding plans take into account the liquidity necessary to fund
our operating commitments, which include primarily purchase obligations for inventory and equipment, payroll and
general expenses (including pension funding). We also take into account our capital allocation and growth objectives,
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including paying dividends, repurchasing shares, investing in research and development and acquiring industrial
businesses. At GE, we rely primarily on cash generated through our operating activities and also have historically
maintained a commercial paper program that we regularly use to fund operations in the U.S., principally within fiscal
quarters.

GECS liquidity position is targeted to meet its obligations under both normal and stressed conditions. GECS
establishes a funding plan annually that is based on the projected asset size and cash needs of GE, which over the past
few years, has included GE’s strategy to reduce its ending net investment in GE Capital. GECS relies on a diversified
source of funding, including the unsecured term debt markets, the global commercial paper markets, deposits, secured
funding, retail funding products, bank borrowings and securitizations to fund its balance sheet, in addition to cash
generated through collection of principal, interest and other payments on our existing portfolio of loans and leases to
fund its operating and interest expense costs.

(40)
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Our 2012 funding plan anticipates repayment of principal on outstanding short-term borrowings, including the current
portion of our long-term debt ($82.6 billion at December 31, 2011, which includes $2.6 billion of alternative and other
funding), through issuance of long-term debt and reissuance of commercial paper, cash on hand, collections of
financing receivables exceeding originations, dispositions, asset sales, and deposits and other alternative sources of
funding. Interest on borrowings is primarily repaid through interest earned on existing financing receivables. During
2011, we earned interest income on financing receivables of $22.4 billion, which more than offset interest expense of
$13.8 billion.

We maintain a detailed liquidity policy for GECS which includes a requirement to maintain a contingency funding
plan. The liquidity policy defines GECS’ liquidity risk tolerance under different stress scenarios based on its liquidity
sources and also establishes procedures to escalate potential issues. We actively monitor GECS’ access to funding
markets and its liquidity profile through tracking external indicators and testing various stress scenarios. The
contingency funding plan provides a framework for handling market disruptions and establishes escalation procedures
in the event that such events or circumstances arise.

We are a savings and loan holding company under U.S. law and became subject to Federal Reserve Board (FRB)
supervision on July 21, 2011, the one-year anniversary of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act.  The FRB has recently finalized a regulation that requires certain organizations it supervises to submit
annual capital plans for review, including institutions’ plans to make capital distributions, such as dividend payments.
The applicability and timing of this proposed regulation to us is not yet determined; however, the FRB has indicated
that it expects to extend these requirements to large savings and loan holding companies through separate rulemaking
or by order. We expect that our capital allocation planning will be subject to FRB review, which could affect the
timing of the GE Capital dividend to the parent.

Actions taken to strengthen and maintain our liquidity are described in the following section.

Liquidity Sources

GE maintains liquidity sources that consist of cash and equivalents and a portfolio of high-quality, liquid investments
(Liquidity Portfolio) and committed unused credit lines.

GE has consolidated cash and equivalents of $84.5 billion at December 31, 2011, which is available to meet its needs.
At GECS, about $9 billion is in regulated bank and insurance entities and is subject to regulatory restrictions. Most of
GE’s cash is held outside the U.S. and is available to fund operations and other growth of non-U.S. subsidiaries; it is
also available to fund its needs in the U.S. on a short-term basis without being subject to U.S. tax. Under current tax
laws, should GE or GECS determine to repatriate cash and equivalents held outside the U.S., we may be subject to
additional U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes. Less than $1 billion is held in restricted countries.

In addition to GE’s $84.5 billion of cash and equivalents, we have a centrally-managed portfolio of high-quality, liquid
investments with a fair value of $3.6 billion at December 31, 2011. The Liquidity Portfolio is used to manage liquidity
and meet our operating needs under both normal and stress scenarios. The investments consist of unencumbered U.S.
government securities, U.S. agency securities, securities guaranteed by the government, supranational securities, and a
select group of non-U.S. government securities. We believe that we can readily obtain cash for these securities, even
in stressed market conditions.

We have committed, unused credit lines totaling $52.4 billion that have been extended to us by 58 financial
institutions at December 31, 2011. These lines include $35.1 billion of revolving credit agreements under which we
can borrow funds for periods exceeding one year. Additionally, $16.7 billion are 364-day lines that contain a term-out
feature that allows us to extend borrowings for one year from the date of expiration of the lending agreement.
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At December 31, 2011, our aggregate cash and equivalents and committed credit lines were more than twice our
commercial paper borrowings balance.

(41)
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Funding Plan

GE has reduced its GE Capital ending net investment, excluding cash and equivalents, from $526 billion at January 1,
2010 to $445 billion at December 31, 2011.

In 2011, we completed issuances of $26.9 billion of senior unsecured debt and $2.0 billion of subordinated notes with
maturities up to 25 years (and subsequent to December 31, 2011, an additional $11.6 billion). Average commercial
paper borrowings during the fourth quarter were $37.2 billion and the maximum amount of commercial paper
borrowings outstanding during the fourth quarter was $39.8 billion.  Our commercial paper maturities are funded
principally through new issuances.

Under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s (FDIC) Temporary Liquidity Guarantee Program (TLGP), the
FDIC guaranteed certain senior, unsecured debt issued by GECC on or before October 31, 2009 for which we paid
$2.3 billion of fees to the FDIC for our participation. Our TLGP-guaranteed debt has remaining maturities of $35
billion in 2012. We anticipate funding these and our other long-term debt maturities through a combination of existing
cash, new debt issuances, collections exceeding originations, dispositions, asset sales, deposits and other alternative
sources of funding. GECC and GE are parties to an Eligible Entity Designation Agreement and GECC is subject to the
terms of a Master Agreement, each entered into with the FDIC. The terms of these agreements include, among other
things, a requirement that GE and GECC reimburse the FDIC for any amounts that the FDIC pays to holders of GECC
debt that is guaranteed by the FDIC.

We securitize financial assets as an alternative source of funding. During 2011, we completed $11.8 billion of
non-recourse issuances and had maturities of $12.0 billion. At December 31, 2011, consolidated non-recourse
borrowings were $29.3 billion. We anticipate that securitization will remain a part of our overall funding capabilities
notwithstanding the changes in consolidation rules described in Notes 1 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Our issuances of securities repurchase agreements are insignificant and are limited to activities at certain of our
foreign banks. At December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, we were party to repurchase agreements totaling $0.1
billion and $0.2 billion, respectively, which were accounted for as on-book financings. We have had no repurchase
agreements which were not accounted for as financings and we do not engage in securities lending transactions.

We have deposit-taking capability at 11 banks outside of the U.S. and two banks in the U.S. – GE Capital Retail Bank
(formerly GE Money Bank), a Federal Savings Bank (FSB), and GE Capital Financial Inc., an industrial bank (IB).
The FSB and IB currently issue certificates of deposit (CDs) in maturity terms from three months to ten years.

Total alternative funding at December 31, 2011 was $66 billion, composed mainly of $43 billion bank deposits, $9
billion of funding secured by real estate, aircraft and other collateral and $8 billion GE Interest Plus notes. The
comparable amount at December 31, 2010 was $60 billion.

Exchange rate and interest rate risks are managed with a variety of techniques, including match funding and selective
use of derivatives. We use derivatives to mitigate or eliminate certain financial and market risks because we conduct
business in diverse markets around the world and local funding is not always efficient. In addition, we use derivatives
to adjust the debt we are issuing to match the fixed or floating nature of the assets we are originating. We apply strict
policies to manage each of these risks, including prohibitions on speculative activities. Following is an analysis of the
potential effects of changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates using so-called “shock” tests that seek to model
the effects of shifts in rates. Such tests are inherently limited based on the assumptions used (described further below)
and should not be viewed as a forecast; actual effects would depend on many variables, including market factors and
the composition of our assets and liability portfolio at that time.
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•  It is our policy to minimize exposure to interest rate changes. We fund our financial investments using debt or a
combination of debt and hedging instruments so that the interest rates of our borrowings match the expected interest
rate profile on our assets. To test the effectiveness of our fixed rate positions, we assumed that, on January 1, 2012,
interest rates increased by 100 basis points across the yield curve (a “parallel shift” in that curve) and further assumed
that the increase remained in place for 2012. We estimated, based on the year-end 2011 portfolio and holding all
other assumptions constant, that our 2012 consolidated net earnings would decline by less than $0.1 billion as a
result of this parallel shift in the yield curve.

•  It is our policy to minimize currency exposures and to conduct operations either within functional currencies or
using the protection of hedge strategies. We analyzed year-end 2011 consolidated currency exposures, including
derivatives designated and effective as hedges, to identify assets and liabilities denominated in other than their
relevant functional currencies. For such assets and liabilities, we then evaluated the effects of a 10% shift in
exchange rates between those currencies and the U.S. dollar, holding all other assumptions constant. This analysis
indicated that our 2012 consolidated net earnings would decline by less than $0.1 billion as a result of such a shift
in exchange rates.

Debt and Derivative Instruments, Guarantees and Covenants

Principal debt and derivative conditions are described below.

Certain of our derivative instruments can be terminated if specified credit ratings are not maintained and certain debt
and derivatives agreements of other consolidated entities have provisions that are affected by these credit ratings. As
of December 31, 2011, GE and GECC’s long-term unsecured debt credit rating from Standard and Poor’s Ratings
Service (S&P) was “AA+” with a stable outlook and from Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) was “Aa2” with a stable
outlook. As of December 31, 2011, GE, GECS and GECC’s short-term credit rating from S&P was “A-1+” and from
Moody’s was “P-1”. We are disclosing these ratings to enhance understanding of our sources of liquidity and the effects
of our ratings on our costs of funds. Although we currently do not expect a downgrade in the credit ratings, our ratings
may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization, and each rating should be
evaluated independently of any other rating.

Fair values of our derivatives can change significantly from period to period based on, among other factors, market
movements and changes in our positions. We manage counterparty credit risk (the risk that counterparties will default
and not make payments to us according to the terms of our standard master agreements) on an individual counterparty
basis. Where we have agreed to netting of derivative exposures with a counterparty, we offset our exposures with that
counterparty and apply the value of collateral posted to us to determine the net exposure. Accordingly, we actively
monitor these net exposures against defined limits and take appropriate actions in response, including requiring
additional collateral.

Swap, forward and option contracts are executed under standard master agreements that typically contain mutual
downgrade provisions that provide the ability of the counterparty to require termination if the long-term credit rating
of the applicable GE entity were to fall below A-/A3. In certain of these master agreements, the counterparty also has
the ability to require termination if the short-term rating of the applicable GE entity were to fall below A-1/P-1. The
net derivative liability after consideration of netting arrangements, outstanding interest payments and collateral posted
by us under these master agreements was estimated to be $0.9 billion at December 31, 2011. See Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K
Report.
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Other debt and derivative agreements of consolidated entities:

•  Trinity comprises two consolidated entities that hold investment securities, the majority of which are investment
grade, and are funded by the issuance of GICs. Since 2004, GECC has fully guaranteed repayment of these entities’
GIC obligations. If the long-term credit rating of GECC were to fall below AA-/Aa3 or its short-term credit rating
were to fall below A-1+/P-1, certain GIC holders could require immediate repayment of their investment. To the
extent that amounts due exceed the ultimate value of proceeds realized from Trinity assets, GECC would be
required to provide such excess amount. As of December 31, 2011, the carrying value of the liabilities of these
entities was $5.6 billion and the fair value of their assets was $4.7 billion (which included net unrealized losses on
investment securities of $0.7 billion). With respect to these investment securities, we intend to hold them at least
until such time as their individual fair values exceed their amortized cost. We have the ability to hold all such debt
securities until maturity.

•  Another consolidated entity also had issued GICs where proceeds are loaned to GECC. If the long-term credit
rating of GECC were to fall below AA-/Aa3 or its short-term credit rating were to fall below A-1+/P-1, GECC
could be required to provide up to approximately $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2011, to repay holders of GICs,
compared to $2.3 billion at December 31, 2010. These obligations are included in long-term borrowings in our
Statement of Financial Position in the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

•  If the short-term credit rating of GECC were reduced below A-1/P-1, GECC would be required to partially cash
collateralize certain covered bonds. The maximum amount that would be required to be provided in the event of
such a downgrade is determined by contract and amounted to $0.7 billion and $0.8 billion at December 31, 2011
and  December 31, 2010, respectively. These obligations are included in long-term borrowings in our Statement of
Financial Position in the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges, Income Maintenance Agreement and Subordinated Debentures

On March 28, 1991, GE entered into an agreement with GECC to make payments to GECC, constituting additions to
pre-tax income under the agreement, to the extent necessary to cause the ratio of earnings to fixed charges of GECC
and consolidated affiliates (determined on a consolidated basis) to be not less than 1.10:1 for the period, as a single
aggregation, of each GECC fiscal year commencing with fiscal year 1991. GECC’s ratio of earnings to fixed charges
was 1.52:1 for 2011.  No payment is required in 2012 pursuant to this agreement.

Any payment made under the Income Maintenance Agreement will not affect the ratio of earnings to fixed charges as
determined in accordance with current SEC rules because it does not constitute an addition to pre-tax income under
current U.S. GAAP.

In addition, in connection with certain subordinated debentures for which GECC receives equity credit by rating
agencies, GE has agreed to promptly return dividends, distributions or other payments it receives from GECC during
events of default or interest deferral periods under such subordinated debentures. There were $7.2 billion of such
debentures outstanding at December 31, 2011. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

Statement of Changes in Shareowner’s Equity

Shareowner’s equity increased $7.2 billion in 2011, decreased $0.8 billion in 2010 and increased $15.5 billion in 2009.

Edgar Filing: GENERAL ELECTRIC CAPITAL CORP - Form 10-K

83



Net earnings increased GECC shareowner’s equity by $6.6 billion, $2.3 billion and $1.6 billion in 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. There were no dividends declared in 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Elements of other comprehensive income increased shareowner’s equity by $0.6 billion in 2011, as compared with a
decrease of $1.6 billion in 2010 and an increase of $5.3 billion in 2009, inclusive of changes in accounting principles.
The components of these changes are as follows:
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•  Currency translation adjustments increased shareowner’s equity by $1.0 billion in 2011, decreased equity by $2.7
billion in 2010 and increased equity by $2.6 billion in 2009. Changes in currency translation adjustments reflect the
effects of changes in currency exchange rates on our net investment in non-U.S. subsidiaries that have functional
currencies other than the U.S. dollar. At year end 2011 and 2010, the U.S. dollar strengthened against most major
currencies, including the pound sterling and the euro, and weakened against the Australian dollar and the Japanese
yen. Releases from accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) related to dispositions and changes in
deferred taxes more than offset the effect in 2011. At year end 2009, the dollar weakened against most major
currencies.

•  The change in fair value of investment securities decreased shareowner’s equity by $0.3 billion in 2011, reflecting
net unrealized losses on our investment securities portfolio. The change in fair value of investment securities
increased shareowner’s equity by $0.5 billion and $1.3 billion in 2010 and 2009, respectively. Further information
about investment securities is provided in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8.
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Form 10-K Report.

•  Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges increased shareowner’s equity by
$0.1 billion in 2011, primarily reflecting lower fair values of interest rate and cross currency hedges which
were more than offset by releases from AOCI contemporaneous with the earnings effects of the related
hedged items, principally as an adjustment of interest expense on borrowings. The change in the fair value
of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges increased equity by $0.5 billion and $1.4 billion in 2010 and
2009, respectively. Further information about the fair value of derivatives is provided in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this
Form 10-K Report.

As discussed previously in the Liquidity and Borrowings section of this Item, in the fourth quarter of 2008, GE raised
$15 billion in cash through common and preferred stock offerings and contributed $15.0 billion to GECS, including
$9.5 billion in the first quarter of 2009 (of which $8.8 billion was further contributed to us through capital contribution
and share issuance). As a result of this action, additional paid-in capital increased by $8.8 billion in 2009.

Statement of Cash Flows – Overview from 2009 through 2011

GECC cash and equivalents were $75.7 billion at December 31, 2011, compared with $59.5 billion at December 31,
2010. GECC cash from operating activities totaled $20.0 billion for 2011, compared with cash from operating
activities of $20.3 billion for the same period of 2010. This was primarily due to increases, compared to the prior year,
in cash paid for income taxes of $1.0 billion and decreases in accrued expenses of $1.2 billion, partially offset by
increases in net cash collateral held from counterparties on derivative contracts of $1.2 billion.

Consistent with our plan to reduce GECC asset levels, cash from investing activities was $29.7 billion in 2011,
resulting from a $14.4 billion reduction in financing receivables due to collections exceeding originations. We
received proceeds of $11.6 billion from sales of our Australian Home Lending operations ($4.6 billion), our Consumer
businesses in Mexico ($1.9 billion), Canada ($1.4 billion) and Singapore ($0.7 billion), our Consumer RV Marine
($1.8 billion), our Real Estate Interpark business ($0.7 billion), our CLL marine container leasing business ($0.4
billion) and our CLL trailer fleet services business in Mexico ($0.1 billion). Additionally, we received proceeds of
$4.4 billion from the sale of our equity method investments in Garanti Bank ($3.8 billion) and Banco Colpatria ($0.6
billion). These increases are partially offset by an increase in equipment purchases, mainly at our GECAS and CLL
businesses.

GECC cash used for financing activities in 2011 of $32.7 billion related primarily to a $37.8 billion reduction in total
borrowings, consisting primarily of reductions in long-term borrowings and commercial paper, partially offset by an
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increase in deposits at our banks.

GECC pays dividends to GECS through a distribution of its retained earnings, including special dividends from
proceeds of certain business sales. Beginning in the first quarter of 2009, GECC suspended its normal dividend to
GECS. There were no special dividends paid to GECS in 2011, 2010 or 2009.
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Contractual Obligations

As defined by reporting regulations, our contractual obligations for future payments as of December 31, 2011, follow.

Payments due by period
2017
and

(In billions) Total 2012 2013-2014 2015-2016 thereafter

Borrowings and bank deposits
(Note 8) $ 438.0 $ 167.5 $ 99.6 $ 52.5 $ 118.4 
Interest on borrowings and
bank deposits 114.1 11.7 17.0 12.4 73.0 
Purchase obligations(a)(b) 30.2 12.6 10.9 3.0 3.7 
Insurance liabilities (Note 9)(c) 4.4 0.9 1.0 0.1 
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